

Faculty of Law

School of International Studies

Graduation work prior to obtaining a Bachelor's Degree in International Studies, bilingual mention in Foreign Trade

"The principle of equality and non-discrimination in Human Rights: The case of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador"

Author:

Jean Pierre Carrión Cordero

Director:

Mgst. Diana García Orellana

Cuenca - Ecuador

2020 - 2021

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to God, for giving me clarity, wisdom and understanding to be able to conclude my career.

To my parents Dario and Gladys, for giving me their support and advice to make me a better person, for their love, sacrifice, effort and for believing in me at all times and never doubting my abilities.

To my sister Johanna, because despite the distance she was always there motivating and supporting me at every step of my career.

To my girlfriend, for becoming an important part of my life, for always being there in the most difficult moments, for her unconditional support, and for giving me encouragement to keep going forward.

To my friends at the University who have been part of my family, and for making each day an unforgettable journey during these 4 years.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To my tutor and teacher, Mgst. Diana García, who thanks to her support, dedication and effort, I have been able to complete this work.

To Mg. Damiano Scotton, whom I thank for his contribution and support to deepen my ideas.

To the teachers of the University of Azuay, for their effort, for teaching me everything I know and more than that, for guiding me to be a better person and professional.

To the University of Azuay, for welcoming me to its institution and for the opportunities it has given me.

And finally, to everyone who has supported me throughout my university years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	2
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
ABSTRACT	7
INTRODUCTION	8
CHAPTER I	14
The principle of equality and non-discrimination in the human rights of migrants and	
refugees	
1.1. Definitions of the principle of equality and non-discrimination	
1.1.1. The principle of equality	14
1.1.2. The principle of non-discrimination	17
1.2. Definition and characteristics of human mobility	19
1.3. Relationship between the principle of equality and Human Rights	26
CHAPTER II	32
Venezuelan migration in Ecuador: a historical perspective	32
2.1. Historical perspective of the Venezuelan migratory crisis	34
2.1.1. Period 1945 – 1970	36
2.1.2. Period 1970 – 1980	36
2.1.3. Period 1980 – 2000	37
2.1.4. Period 2000 – 2010	38
2.1.5. Period 2010 – 2019	40
2.2. Venezuelan migratory crisis and its relationship with the Ecuadorian State	42
2.3. Vulnerability of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador	45
2.3.1. Labor	45
2.3.2. Xenophobia	46
2.4. Impact of Venezuelan migrants and refugees in Ecuador	47
CHAPTER III	50
Actions to be carried out to improve the guarantee of rights of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador	50
3.1. Action 1: Promoting global citizenship and free mobility at the international level	

3.2. Action 2: Strengthen the protection of the rights of the population in a s mobility	
3.2.1. Contradictions related to universal citizenship	60
3.3. Action 3: Comprehensive plan for the attention and protection of rights the increased Venezuelan migratory flow in Ecuador	
3.4. Perspectives of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador	67
3.4.1. Considerations based on the interviews	69
3.5. Perspectives of the current government	70
CONCLUSIONS	73
BIBLIOGRAPHY	75
ANNEXES	86
Annex 1. Interviews	86

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Distribution of the Venezuelan migrant population in Latin American countries, 2019... 43

ABSTRACT

The principle of equality and non-discrimination is contemplated in the Declaration of Human Rights of 1948; it establishes that no person may be the subject of discrimination based on race, religion, nationality or other characteristics. On the other hand, Venezuelan migration to neighboring Latin American and Caribbean countries has had an impact on internal relations, and the social situation of the receiving countries. The general objective of the research work was to identify the actions to be taken by the Ecuadorian State to improve the guarantee of the principle of equality and non-discrimination in relation to the Human Rights of Venezuelan immigrants in Ecuador. The study had a qualitative approach; with techniques of bibliographic review and an interview directed to six Venezuelan migrants in Cuenca. The main results were that despite the supranational mandate of the principle of equality and non-discrimination expressed in the Declaration of Human Rights, situations of discriminatory treatment of Venezuelan migrants still persist in Ecuador, both by government officials and by employers. The study concluded that proposals can be presented for the care of Venezuelan migrants, through the creation of an office that coordinates cases of legalization of migrants and healthcare, which can be financed by international organizations focused on migration issues.

Keywords: principle of equality, non-discrimination, migration, human rights, Venezuelans.

INTRODUCTION

Venezuelan migration to Ecuador has been a controversial issue that has drawn the attention of the entire society. This is due to the different perspectives and points of view that people have on this issue, related to employment, security and culture shock. Today, human mobility is a very important issue, not only in Ecuador, but globally, since displacement of people occurs for political, socio economic and security reasons. With this, I would like to direct the focus towards the analysis of the guarantee of the principle of equality and non-discrimination in our country towards Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador, as an essential part of Human Rights.

During my experience as a student in the career of International Studies, I have been able to observe and analyze how the issue of migration has been increasing over the years, especially the human mobility of Venezuelans to Ecuador. Venezuelan migration has been a highly debated issue in recent years, being a phenomenon discussed at the international level originated from the strong political and economic crisis in the country. Human mobility is generally due to various reasons such as the economic, social, and political problems of the country of origin, which in the case of Venezuelans; multiple factors have caused them to leave the country in search of a better future.

Among the main reasons for the exodus of Venezuelans is the precariousness of social services such as quality education, health and housing while, in economic terms, the lack of production and economic factors have produced hyperinflation, which has decreased family income affecting livelihoods. However, the progressiveness of Ecuadorian immigration laws has

not improved the situation of Venezuelans, which has distorted the true purpose of the law, making it impossible for Venezuelan migrants to practice their rights. Based on this, I consider it important to publicize and analyze the case of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador, in order to have a better idea of how the migration situation is in Ecuador and the fulfillment of guarantees related to human rights.

The deterioration of the social and economic system in Venezuela, from 2012 to the present, has resulted in the loss of purchasing power of individuals and families, food and medicine shortages, precarious public services, high crime rates and insecurity; all of this forced the departure of a considerable number of Venezuelans between 2015 and 2019, of which in 2017, 227,810 migrants from Venezuela entered Ecuador (Legarda Sevilla & Folleco Chalá, 2019).

This situation has not been fully accepted in the receiving countries, with regrettable experiences of discrimination being observed. According to the study by Condori et al. (2020), in countries such as Colombia, Ecuador and Peru, xenophobic and discriminatory acts towards Venezuelans have been presented; the authors state that Venezuelan migrants have had obstacles to access employment, medical care, education, and even acquiring consumer goods.

Human Rights (HR) are basic rights, naturally inherent in the nature and existence of human beings as equals. Thus, human rights must be respected, protected, fulfilled, defended and promoted for the sake of human dignity (Itasari, 2020). According to Camacho Monge (2016), the Universal Declaration of Human Rights presented and accepted at the United Nations

conference in 1948, establishes a series of rights inherent to the person, from his human character just for the mere fact of being human. According to Sikkink, Risse and Ropp (1999), the Universal Declaration of Human Rights contains thirty articles detailing various rights, from the right to life, the right to work and the right to rest and leisure.

On the other hand, according to Nguindip (2017), the principle of equality and non-discrimination guarantees that those who are in equal conditions are treated with equality before the law. A violation of the principle of non-discrimination occurs if:

- a) Similar cases are treated differently;
- b) A difference in treatment does not have an objective and reasonable justification; or
- c) If there is no proportionality between the aim pursued and the means used.

Also, due to the characteristics of Venezuelan migration, practically the majority of these people can qualify as refugees. In this regard, it is necessary to mention that the 1951 Convention continues to be the basis of international refugee law and its definition constitutes the main reason for establishing a person's refugee status (Nguindip, 2017).

Discriminatory attitudes threaten dignity and fundamental freedoms, violating two fundamental principles of human rights: justice and equality; the violation of equality in the treatment of individuals or groups, regardless of their specific characteristics, is considered discrimination (Levantezi et al., 2020). According to Sikkink (2017), in current debates on migration and refugees, many activists point to an ideal that is not embodied in the Refugee Convention; they advocate a radical re-conceptualization and redesign of the rules and

institutions of citizenship that are not well defined, but that would imply a dramatic change in the current state system as we know it.

According to Serrano-Cayamcela (2018), "Ecuador has moved in its migration policy from a restrictive and selective securitization approach (sic) towards a human development perspective of human mobility" (p. 146); with this, the author refers to the fact that human rights have been incorporated into migration policy in the country, based on the paradigm of neoconstitutionalism.

In Ecuador, the Human Mobility Law and its respective regulations were recently updated in 2017, which has shown a significant effort to put into practice the defense and corresponding promotion of the protection of the human rights of each migrant (Morales Castillo, 2018). However, these efforts could be insufficient, given that it is necessary to harmonize the human rights of migrants with legal regulations related to work, access to health and education services, and among others (Inter-Parliamentary Union, 2015).

In recent years, a trend of new law with a focus on universal citizenship has taken hold. In this regard, in the work of Ayala Méndez (2013), reference has been made to the close relationship between globalization and the flexibility of transit and migration requirements, emphasizing that universal citizenship is aimed at reinforcing the fundamental rights contained in the Declaration of Human Rights.

Under this framework, the following research question was made: What actions could be taken by the Ecuadorian State to improve the guarantee of the principle of equality and non-discrimination, in relation to the Human Rights of Venezuelan immigrants in Ecuador?

The study's general objective is to identify the actions to be carried out by the Ecuadorian State, to improve the guarantee of the principle of equality and non-discrimination in relation to the Human Rights of Venezuelan immigrants in Ecuador. For its fulfillment, the following specific objectives were established:

- a. Identify what are the human rights of people in a situation of human mobility.
- b. Compare how the principle of equality and non-discrimination is related to the human rights of people in situations of human mobility.
- c. Determine how the Venezuelan migratory flow 2016-2019 has evolved in Ecuador.
- d. Suggest possible actions to be taken by the Ecuadorian State, to improve the guarantee of said principle in relation to Venezuelan immigrants and refugees in Ecuador.

This study is descriptive with a qualitative approach. The main method is based on a field study, which required interviews from Venezuelan migrants to see if their rights were affected and on what specific issue. In addition, this project will apply the documentary research technique of secondary sources, for which a bibliographic review of valid sources such as books, scientific articles, and official publications is carried out; this includes the analysis of the corresponding theoretical framework of the subject, as well as the search and analysis of cases of Venezuelan migrants, human rights, the principle of equality and non-discrimination, and the

Venezuelan migratory crisis. Through this analysis, it was sought to understand and determine the case of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador.

CHAPTER I

The principle of equality and non-discrimination in the human rights of migrants and refugees

1.1. Definitions of the principle of equality and non-discrimination

1.1.1. The principle of equality

Until the eighteenth century it was assumed that, by nature, human beings were unequal, that is, that there was a natural human hierarchy that made them different, exercising an unequal right among human beings, where the so-called natural order of things prevailed; but, this postulate collapsed with the advent of the idea of natural law and the emergence of thought based on an equality of natural order among all human beings (Deranty, 2017). Equality between human beings is a topic that seeks and discusses equality, which became visible during the French Revolution (Villavicencio Miranda, 2018).

For centuries, the principle of superiority of the powerful over the weaker dominated, either by political position, military or by possession, representing inequality or asymmetry in access to justice. Contrary to those proposed by Plato and Aristotle, the classic formula of justice according to which an action offers each individual what is due, was transformed and acquired a substantially egalitarian meaning among people over time; in such a way that, the revolutionary philosophical proposal stated that everyone deserved the same dignity and the same respect (DOXA, 2010).

During the French Revolution, equality, along with freedom and brotherhood, became the basis of the transcendental and philosophical reflections on autonomy and self-regulation, leading to the recognition of the same freedom for all rational beings as a single principle of human rights (Campani, 2014). Such ideas from the Enlightenment period stimulated and promoted the great social movements and many of the modern revolutions, which is why this thinking was incorporated into modern constitutions and human rights declarations.

The principle of equality is based on the assumption that "all people are holders of guarantees by the very fact of belonging to the human species, therefore, equality and non-discrimination make up almost an inseparable binomial with the dignity of the human being "(Palacios Sanabria, 2012, p. 79). Thus, the principle of equality as a right is justified from the universal attribution that everyone will always have, the same quality as moral agents (Villavicencio Miranda, 2018).

According to Villavicencio Miranda (2018), equality among human beings takes on at least two important forms: the first, of a formal nature, which is related to the prohibition of discriminatory treatment with which it is intended to ensure equal opportunities; while the second, called material, refers to the satisfaction of certain basic needs or the distribution of the necessary resources so that people can function as autonomous moral agents.

Regarding the principle of equality, it is necessary to consider two fundamental provisions of the declaration of human rights, which in article 2 establishes that:

Every person has all the rights and freedoms proclaimed in this Declaration, without any distinction of race, color, sex, language, religion, political opinion, national or social origin, economic position, birth, or any other condition. In addition, no distinction will be made based on the political, legal, or international condition of the country or territory on whose jurisdiction a person depends on, whether it is an independent country, or territory under fiduciary administration, not autonomous or subject to any other sovereignty limitation (ONU, 1948, p. 2).

In Ecuador, the law is based on the principle of equality. Under the Constitution of the Republic of Ecuador (2008), in article 11, numeral 2; citizens have the right to be treated equally as addressed in the constitution which will be explained in-depth below:

All people are equal and will enjoy the same rights, duties, and opportunities. No one may be discriminated against for reasons of ethnicity, place of birth, age, sex, gender identity, cultural identity, marital status, language, religion, ideology, political affiliation, judicial past, socio-economic status, immigration status, sexual orientation, health status, carrying HIV, disability, physical difference; nor by any other distinction, personal or collective, temporary or permanent, whose purpose or result is to impair or nullify the recognition, enjoyment or exercise of rights. The law will sanction all forms of discrimination (Constitution of the Republic of Ecuador, 2008).

The principle of equality is not based on people being equal to each other, since each person expresses uniqueness, but rather, based on the diversity that human beings as individuals should receive fair and equal treatment. In this sense, Restrepo (1999, cited by Villegas Arenas

& Toro Gaviria, 2010) indicates that the principle of equality among human beings, regardless of their ethnic origin, does not in any way imply perfect equality, but rather rests on the ethical judgment that in certain social, legal and formal aspects people are very similar and that, consequently, they should receive equal treatment. Also, it can be assumed that the principle of equality is a principle of law from the moment it is applied to all human beings.

1.1.2. The principle of non-discrimination

The principle of non-discrimination has been the subject of multiple discussions at the legislative level, leading to its incorporation into laws and other regulations, to reduce unfair differentiations as much as possible (Aguilar, 2020). The principle of non-discrimination is conceived as the guarantee of equal treatment between people, regardless of whether or not they belong to the same community, region, or country, as well as their race, language, religion (IIHR, 2009). Consequently, the principle of non-discrimination can be seen as a direct consequence of the fundamental principle of equality.

According to Diebold (2010), the principle of non-discrimination constitutes a cornerstone in different fields of international economic law, in particular international trade in goods and services, as well as intellectual property and investment protection. It is a principle that establishes justice in relationships, transactions, and access to rights, as well as the fulfillment of duties without barriers.

Access to employment is one of the essential factors of non-discrimination. At the 100th session of the International Labor Conference (ILO), held in 2011 in the city of Geneva,

Switzerland, the promotion of non-discrimination was discussed, through a better design and application of legislation, gender equity, equal pay between men and women, reconciliation of work and family responsibilities, equality concerning race and ethnicity, protection of migrant workers, equal opportunities for people with disabilities and non-discrimination by age (ILO, 2011).

On the other hand, stigma has negative consequences by disturbing social interactions, limiting social networks, compromising the quality of life, and generating unemployment, perpetuating the cycle of social and economic exclusion, loss of individual status, and discrimination. Thus, stigmatization increases the vulnerability of individuals and groups, directly damaging the health and social representation of those it affects. Its implications are of direct interest for bioethics, considering the inequality that turns into exclusion and results from the relationships between cultural processes and power structures. Therefore, analyzing stigma requires understanding its social and political aspects (Levantezi et al., 2020).

Seco Martínez (2017) affirms that the idea of equality, in the way it has been understood in modern societies, has two faces or dimensions, the legal-formal dimension, and the material dimension. The legal-formal dimension is summarized in the principle of equality of all subjects before the law, which is why it is the one that has had the greatest relevance in current normative systems and is placed first as a subjective right of all human beings concerning the State. However, it is believed that the formal dimension of equality can reduce the problem of the effectiveness of rights. On the other hand, the material dimension responds to the historical need

for people to exist without differences in access to justice, goods, and means to live, that is, with the material conditions of possibility.

According to Moskal and North (2017), equity concerns appear frequently in policy texts. For example, the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development included intergenerational equity and justice among the main terms and values, and in particular in reference to social diversity: "equity and justice are also necessary for the diverse groups of the current generation "(p. 107).

On the other hand, according to Sosa Salazar et al. (2019), the principles only play an important role in interpretation at times when the direct and exclusive application of legal norms provides a solution to a certain legal problem. Therefore, the difference between norms and principles establishes various problems in their interpretation; thus, the direct and precise nature of the rules leads to preferring them when facing conflicts with the principles. However, a relatively reasonable interpretation of the rules can lead to situations completely incompatible with the principles related to it, even if they are not considered as illicit or illegal.

1.2. Definition and characteristics of human mobility

Since immemorial times, human beings have always found themselves on the move and this has been an important means of economic and social development; and while human mobility is not a new phenomenon, there still isn't a systematic understanding of the diversity of the underlying reasons (Kuhnt, 2019).

In a globalized world, we face a continuous growth in the movement of people, goods, materials, and information; thus, these movements, analytically called mobilities, actively intersect with environmental, political, economic and social change processes. For example, some mobilities such as hazardous waste are inherently harmful to the environment, while other mobilities such as migration are triggered by the impacts of environmental change, social and economic change, among others (Boas et al., 2018).

Lee (1996, cited by Malamassam, 2016), analyzed the motivations and decisions that people consider when they migrate. In a theory of migration, he pointed out that four aspects influence the decision to migrate, namely, factors associated with the areas of origin, factors associated with the destination area, obstacles involved, and personal factors. The theory showed that the same sets of factors associated with the areas of origin and destination could operate differently in different people; because different people experience different obstacles and personal problems. Therefore, these four aspects work together to differentiate those who decide to migrate from those who do not. Furthermore, migration is seen as a response by the individual, the family, and the community to bridge the gap between their life aspirations and the limited facilities in their areas of origin.

Migration can be seen from its favorable dimension in boosting productivity, innovation, and economic entrepreneurship. According to Macková and Kysučan (2016), through migration, new continents were populated and the current political, ethnic and cultural map of the world was created. Likewise, according to Molina and Granda (2016), migration refers to the movement of one or more people across administrative and political borders, whose objective is

to settle temporarily or permanently in a place different from their place of origin. For his part, Klaus J. Bade (2003, cited by Macková & Kysučan, 2016), states that migrations as social processes are - if we ignore flights (escapes) and forced migrations - a response to more or less complex economic, environmental, social and cultural conditions of human existence.

In the Declaration of Inter-American Principles on Human Rights, which seeks the protection of migrants, stateless persons, refugees, and victims of human trafficking, published by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR), migrants are defined as:

Any person who is outside the social, emotional, or political territory to which he or she belongs. For these principles, a migrant person is someone who is outside their national territory, regardless of their immigration status, their intention, and their temporality. It also includes stateless migrants and victims of human trafficking as defined by national laws and relevant international conventions (CIDH, 2019, p. 3).

Migration has also contributed to the significant growth and enrichment of ancient classical culture, for example from this historical territory, the evolving Greek culture spread through great waves of migration known as the "Great Greek Colonization". As a consequence of the rapid economic growth of Greek municipalities since the beginning of the Archaic period of Greek history and the related population growth, the free population of these municipalities had to seek new settlements (Macková & Kysučan, 2016).

In reality, migration played up to three roles: first, it was a natural demographic outlet that could prevent possible social unrest; second, it enabled the Greeks to obtain valuable resources from agricultural land, timber, and minerals; and third, it supported the exchange of civilizations (Macková & Kysučan, 2016).

According to Pincay, Cañarte, Pincay, and Durán (2018), "the mobility of people through international borders goes back to the creation of the borders themselves, and the vulnerability of those foreigners is not a recent problem" (p. 581). In this sense, it can be considered that mobility and migration are intrinsic human characteristics; since it is considered that the human being has always kept moving, discovering, or seeking better perspectives in other lands.

On the other hand, except for the perverse totalitarian systems of Nazism and Communism, all of modern civilization is characterized by the growth of a wide variety of human freedoms. Paradoxically, one of the most natural freedoms, freedom of movement, is significantly restricted as never before and a phenomenon as obvious as the migration of people or groups of people that have become an unmanageable threat (Macková & Kysučan, 2016).

A very important aspect of mobility is the economy and the search for better livelihoods. In this regard, Delgado Wise (2018) emphasizes that the configuration and expansion of global networks of monopoly capital, as a restructuring strategy led by large multinationals, which, through outsourcing operations and subcontracting chains, extend part of their production processes, commercial, financial and services to the Global South in search of abundant and cheap labor through global labor arbitration. The massive nature of migration associated with the contradictory and disorderly dynamics of uneven development has broadened the traditional notion of forced migration.

According to Schewel (2019), migration studies suffer from a mobility bias. The accusation may seem strange, given that mobility is the very subject that the field seeks to understand. The author says that migration can refer to many forms of spatial mobility; some of the early research on migration examined internal migration, while contemporary scholars focus primarily on international migration. On the other hand, Sheller (2018) indicates that the field of mobility studies began with discussions about "automobility" as the dominant system, but it even included research on the combined movements of people, objects, and information in all their complex relational dynamics in many places and on many scales.

Mobility research has several key characteristics that distinguish it from other approaches in social sciences. First, it analyzes phenomena from the point of view of movement; secondly, it uses the term mobility instead of the singular term mobility, because its goal is to not only understand people, but also how images, communications, and objects are in motion and how these actual and potential movements organize and structure social life (Boas et al., 2018).

In Salazar's study (2019), the author affirms that the concepts of migration and mobility clearly intersect, but they are not synonymous; although migration by definition implies mobility, and migration studies have favored the study of other aspects of the migration process. For Sheller (2018), when analyzing the problem of mobility injustice, he affirms that it begins with our bodies and how some bodies can move more easily through space than others, due to mobility restrictions related to mobility, gender, race, class, ethnicity, sexuality, and physical abilities.

Regarding the social implications, mobility itself has become an important factor of social stratification. Many people automatically link "voluntary" geographic mobility to some kind of symbolic "escalation", be it economic (in terms of resources), social (in terms of status), or cultural (in terms of cosmopolitan disposition). In other words, mobility is used as an indicator of the variable access and accumulation of various types of "symbolic capital" (Salazar, 2019). Although migrants are seen as both economic and cultural threats, the cultural threat is the most powerful factor in the creation of anti-immigrant attitudes (Moskal and North, 2017).

Mobility, as a concept metaphor, captures the common impression that our world of life is changing, with people, cultures, objects, capital, businesses, services, diseases, media, images, information, and ideas circulating the planet. Mobility is a controversial ideological construct that involves much more than a mere movement; but is socially embedded, manifested in metacultural discourses and imaginaries (Salazar, 2019).

An important factor in the analysis of migration is the demographic configuration of the population group that moves from one country to another. In many countries, young people dominate migration flows and are known as the most mobile age group. In Indonesia, a recent census by the Indonesian Bureau of Statistics reported that around 30 percent of the migrant population in the country belongs to a 15-24 year old population group; the youth movement causes an imbalance in the distribution of the population between the regions of this country, particularly between urban and rural areas (Malamassam, 2016).

The choices of destination by young migrants are influenced by their future expectations and plans. Sweeney Research (2009, cited by Malamassam, 2016), reports that the choice of young migrants in destination areas largely depends on their expectations about education and employment opportunities in those places; the familiarity of migrants with the destination areas, as well as the presence of family or friends, are factors that influence the choice of destination.

Migration analysis can be based on three levels. The macro-level refers to factors that are common to all potential migrants in a particular country, such as the socio-economic and political context or migration governance and policies of countries, regions, or other entities of origin and destination. The meso-level encompasses sub-national or local factors, including networks or cultural reasons. Individual and family characteristics of potential migrants, such as gender, age, educational level, and social status, as well as behavioral factors, like risk aversion, are part of the micro-level (Kuhnt, 2019).

Socio-economic status is also a major factor in destination areas for migrants (Malamassam, 2016). In this regard, Herbst et al. (2017), states that the economic theory assumes that human capital affects growth by influencing labor productivity and by determining the economy's ability to innovate; this is related to the migration of professionals; since numerous empirical research studies have confirmed the positive effect of the stock of human capital and its quality on growth rates at both national and regional levels. Changes in migration policies, whether in the country or region of origin, transit, or destination, are likely to influence migration (Kuhnt, 2019).

The identification and analysis of the reasons that lead people to go beyond their borders or their places of origin, where they live their daily lives, constitutes an essential element in the appropriate attention to their respective condition as migrants; given that, it can be assured that the consideration and due attention to this aspect must begin before people can decide to venture in the search for what appears to be an illusion. This means that attention to the phenomenon represented by migration or the international mobilization of people should allow the creation of a context of appropriate public policies framed in Human Rights, from the expelling States and, consequently, in the countries of transit and destination (Uribe Arzate & Olvera García, 2019).

Migrants are often rejected by those who fear 'newcomers', showing the impact of their presence on the cultural dimensions and attitudes of people in host societies, given the growth observed in the volume of displaced people and refugees in recent years due to political problems like; Instability, criminal violence, persecution, natural disasters, environmental degradation linked to climate change, poverty and inequality (Canelón Silva & Almansa Martínez, 2018). On the other hand, it is necessary to consider the range of migration displacement; According to the International Organization for Migration (IOM) (2017), the majority of international migrants remain in their region of origin (Canelón Silva & Almansa Martínez, 2018).

1.3. Relationship between the principle of equality and Human Rights

Human Rights are fundamental rights; they have the characteristic of being naturally inherent to the nature of the human being (Itasari, 2020). The intention of the Declaration of Human Rights is its universal applicability, in every one of the spheres of life, for which they

must be respected, protected, complied with, defended, and promoted for the sake of human dignity (Itasari, 2020).

According to Gutiérrez and Arango (2019), in a broad sense, human rights are understood as the group of ethical demands and values that are adopted in countries or societies over time and that, today, are manifested through legal norms, both nationally and internationally. These norms demand certain obligations and duties from the State, so that, by assuming human dignity as a preponderant value, the powers of justice over people are directly recognized; these obligations of the State are precisely those that give importance to the study of human rights and their relationship with it. According to Itasari (2020), the implementation of respect, compliance, protection, application, and promotion of human rights is an obligation and responsibility of the State, especially of the government, in charge of executing or enforcing laws.

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) describes basic rights, as classified first generation rights. Adopted by the United Nations in 1948, the UDHR begins by affirming, in Article 1, that all people have the right to freedom, are considered equal in dignity, and in the set of social rights that provide protection. Meanwhile, in Article 7, the document clearly registers the concern for discrimination by establishing that all human beings are equal before the law and have access to rights without differentiation among them, as well as to be protected by the law. Everyone is entitled to equal protection against any discrimination in violation of this Declaration and any incitement to such discrimination (Levantezi et al., 2020, p. 19).

Another document that addresses non-discrimination is the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights, adopted at the 1997 Unesco General Conference. In its Article 6, the document states that:

No one shall be subjected to discrimination based on genetic characteristics that are intended to infringe or have the effect of infringing human rights, fundamental freedoms, and human dignity. The passage warns against the risk of stigmatization resulting from genetic studies suggesting the inherent inferiority of certain groups (Levantezi et al., 2020, p. 20).

Access to human rights by displaced persons or refugees, who have a special migratory status as they try to escape from certain dangers in their countries of origin, is becoming increasingly important. Refugees are people who have fled war, violence, conflict, or persecution and have crossed an international border to find safety in another country (Cruz-Mera & Tusev, 2019). According to the study by Moskal and North (2017), although education is a basic human right, recent research shows that refugee children are five times more likely to be out of school than the global average; only 50% of refugee children have access to primary education, while the global average is over 90%. The gap widens for adolescent refugees, of whom only 22% have the opportunity to attend secondary school, compared to a global average of 84%. At the higher education level, less than 1% of refugees attend university, compared to 34% globally.

Gender equality and women's empowerment feature prominently in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Concerning migration issues, target number 10.7 aims at facilitating the orderly, safe, regular and responsible

migration and mobility of people, including through the implementation of coherently planned and well-managed migration policies and regulations by authorities. Empowerment, in particular, is a difficult concept to define, contextualize and measure, including for the purpose of assessing the impact of migration. According to the UN, women's empowerment has five components: women's sense of self-worth; their right to have and decide choices; their right to have access to opportunities and resources; their right to have the power to control their own lives, both inside and outside the home; and their ability to influence the direction of social change to create a fairer social and economic order, nationally and internationally (Platonova & Gény, 2017).

On the other hand, the living conditions of women before migration and the nature of the migration process have a considerable impact on the prospects of migrant women in the country of destination. Other experiences in the new place may alleviate or reinforce existing vulnerabilities and impact positively or negatively on the individual, household, and community as a result of migration. In the context of Caribbean migration, migrant women often face new layers of discrimination in the country of destination, especially as they continue to integrate into the labor market with low-paying jobs that entail harsh working conditions and where jobs are often tied to the specific employer (ibíd.).

There are multiple factors that contribute to disqualification and many of these are related to social norms. For example, when both spouses have jobs, it is common for migration decisions to be made to meet the professional needs of male partners. In other cases, female-dominated occupations tend to be given lower priority in admission systems than male-dominated

occupations, and this can result in many qualified women being admitted as spouses rather than with an employment contract (Platonova & Gény, 2017).

According to UNHCR (2017, cited by Cruz-Mera & Tusev, 2019), there are three types of migrants: refugees, displaced persons, and asylum seekers. Refugees are those who, due to life-threatening persecution such as war, have been forced to cross borders to seek refuge in a host country. Displaced persons are those who have had to flee their homes for reasons similar to those of refugees, but seek refuge in the same country, in safer areas; and asylum seekers are those who have applied for refugee status in a country other than their own, but have not yet received a definitive response.

According to the United Nations (2018), the human rights of millions of migrants around the world are not sufficiently protected or are at risk of abuse. This is especially for migrants who do not have the legal right to remain in the countries in which they reside and who may be subject to forced returns or otherwise encouraged or coerced to return voluntarily.

Although human mobility does not appear to be established as a specific objective or goal in the 2030 Development Goals, transversally it can be seen as an explicit field with collective themes in which political action is inscribed, namely: The protection of Human Rights over other cultural or nationality factors (Canelón Silva & Almansa Martínez, 2018).

The failure to safeguard migrants' rights in the context of return has been shown to give rise to several serious human rights concerns. In the absence of systematic monitoring and reporting, it is difficult to know the extent of potential abuses; however, reports indicate that migrants are at increased risk of being returned to places where they may suffer torture, abuse, cruel punishment, humiliation, or inhumane treatment (ill-treatment) in violation of the principle of non-refoulement (United Nations, 2018).

CHAPTER II

Venezuelan migration in Ecuador: a historical perspective

Globally over the last decades, the total number of international migrants has grown substantially; while in 2000 it was estimated that 173 million people were living outside their country of origin, but in 2017 this figure increased to 258 million. However, it is considered that this increase has been proportional to the general demographic growth. On the other hand, the percentage of migrants in accordance with the world population has shown little increase and remains very low, since it is estimated that in 2000 the proportion was 2.8% and in 2017 it was 3.4%, therefore, the permanence of people in the country of origin remains the usual (OXFAM, 2019).

Ecuador has not been a country characterized for being a recipient of immigration; on the contrary, it has gone through different stages of departure of its citizens to countries such as the United States, Spain and even Venezuela. However, with the improvement of economic and social conditions after the dollarization in 2000, Ecuador has served as a refuge for migrants from different parts of the world, including people from Canada, the United States, Cuba, Colombia and Venezuela (Esparragoso, 2012). According to Díaz and Perales (2020b), migration to Ecuador has occurred with lower balances upon departure, which is why even citizens consider that there are a greater number of opportunities in other countries.

Venezuela, on the other hand, has had a migratory history contrary to that of Ecuador.

The oil-producing country has frequently been a recipient of migrants from different latitudes of

the planet, including countries in Europe, Asia and Latin America, due to the effects of the oil production business. However, the socio-political crisis of the last 20 years has led to the departure of a considerable number of Venezuelans, who, despite their educational background, do not feel safe in their territory, and the prospects for a better future are slim.

The outflow of Venezuelans to neighboring countries in the region has brought with it both positive and negative aspects. According to a study carried out in Peru, a significant number of these migrants are trained in different areas and are capable of performing different economic activities. It was also observed that the participation of Venezuelans in formal and informal economic activities has contributed with about US\$ 600 million to the growth of the Peruvian GDP, which has represented 0.3% of GDP in 2019; this has had a favorable impact on the economy by creating greater dynamism, thus maintaining a favorable economic growth for the country (OXFAM, 2019).

The different records and studies carried out in the countries of destination of Venezuelans, has been observed with interest that they have excellent technical and professional training, as well as handling foreign languages such as English and various skills for work that contribute to quality, increasing competitiveness, and contributing to innovation in different industries and services (OXFAM, 2019). In a study conducted in Peru by Mendoza and Miranda (2019), it was found that 92.2% of Venezuelan professionals reported having a degree obtained in higher education; however, the majority of those who have a degree have not been able to obtain the respective homologation, basically for economic reasons (40%), for not knowing the registration procedure (33%) or because they did not bring their diplomas (20%).

2.1. Historical perspective of the Venezuelan migratory crisis

As mentioned before, Venezuela was characterized as a migrant-receiving nation, but as a result of various political, economic and social circumstances, the migratory character of Venezuela has been reversed, and it is now a migrant-producing country (Marín-Pérez & Méndez-Cabrita, 2019).

It is important to take into consideration that in the 19th century, after the war of independence and the establishment of the republic, Venezuela opened its doors to international migration in order to fill the void left by the struggle against the Spanish, which resulted in thousands of lost lives and disabled people. The new republic of Venezuela was founded with the contribution of migrants who arrived from various countries, whose arrival is distributed in five well-defined moments since then (Páez B & Phélan C, 2018):

- First moment: Frustrated Immigration (1824-1936).
 - Migration from European countries was encouraged for the construction of the so-called agricultural colonies. At that time, 26,090 immigrants arrived in the country, of whom 20,000 came from Spain, 2,764 from Italy and 1,806 from France (Páez B & Phélan C, 2018).
- Second moment: The Transition (1936-1945).

During this period, new migration and naturalization laws were formulated to promote migration from Europe once again. A particular event at this time was the arrival of Jewish migrants fleeing from the Nazis in World War II. There was also the arrival of Spanish republicans seeking refuge at the end of the civil war (Páez B & Phélan C, 2018).

• Third moment: Open Doors (1945-1958).

Institutional strengthening in the area of migration was developed.78% of the total migrant population were southern Europeans, as well as North Americans and Colombians. Among those originating from Spain, 33% came from the Canary Islands and another 33% from Galicia (Páez B & Phélan C, 2018).

• Fourth moment: Beginning of Democracy (1958-1970).

There was a relative contraction of immigration and a selective immigration policy was implemented, which meant the closing of the previous open-door policy. During this period, 15% of the total population in Venezuela were immigrants, primarily from Spain, Portugal, Italy, Lebanon and Syria (Páez B & Phélan C, 2018).

• Fifth moment: Associated with the "oil boom" (1970-1983).

The policy of full employment and the opening of large investments in various infrastructure works were applied. Internationally, it coincides with moments of South American dictatorships; therefore, immigration is predominantly from Argentina, Ecuador, Colombia, Peru, Chile and Cuba. The return of European migrants and the emigration of highly qualified Venezuelans to the United States began (Páez B & Phélan C, 2018).

Peñafiel Chang (2020) developed a study in which he explains the migratory development of Venezuela from 1945 to the present, more as a receiving country than as an issuing country. The following is a summary of the periods defined by the author, with which he seeks to describe the circumstances and motivations.

2.1.1. Period 1945 – 1970

During this period, Venezuela was a recipient of immigrants from Europe who arrived fleeing from war conflicts such as World War II, as well as for social, political and economic reasons (Morales and Navarro, 2008). During these years, despite the dictatorial political regime that lasted until 1958, Venezuela, unlike other Latin American countries, was a country with an absence of conflicts, economic stability and a modernization process in which immigrants played a very important role.

2.1.2. Period 1970 – 1980

In the early seventies, the stage of Latin American immigration to Venezuela began, where the main reasons were related to the level of qualification, and economic activity that they developed. An example of this were the Colombians, the main groups of immigrants to Venezuela, who arrived in search of better living conditions, after the economic contraction suffered in Colombia as a result of the drop in coffee prices (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

On the other hand, during this period, Latin America in general was under dictatorial regimes such as Bolivia, Argentina, Uruguay and Chile, which forced people to emigrate for political reasons. In all cases, whether Colombians or other Latin American immigrants, the choice of Venezuela as a destination was due to the stability and economic strength of the time, as a result of the success that oil had provided after having achieved good margins in world markets. Meanwhile, the migratory flow of Venezuelans abroad during this period is considered temporary, an example of this is, the people who left the country to study in other parts of the

world, and when they finished their university specialties, in most cases they returned with the purpose of joining the productive sector, developing academic and research groups, and innovating in different areas of the country. There were also migrations of people from politicized sectors of society in search of exile and security.

2.1.3. Period 1980 – 2000

It was until 1983 that Venezuela maintained a panorama of social and economic stability. During that same year the country entered in crisis, as a result of the commitments acquired during the oil bonanza season, which resulted in a large foreign debt. These events caused an economic downturn that ended in the well-known "Black Friday" event, which was a turning point in the Venezuelan migratory situation for the next twenty years; it is during this time that the migratory pattern in Venezuela changed (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

The deterioration of production and public services, together with unemployment and corruption scandals, affected the behavior of the population, which began to show signs of Venezuelan emigration. During this period, Venezuela went from being a receiver to a progressive emitter of population. Throughout these years of crisis, thousands of Venezuelans made the decision to seek a better way of life by emigrating, which included young people who were about to finish university and professional studies, and at the same time immigrants who had arrived years ago, began to return to their countries of origin (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

According to García Arias and Restrepo Pineda (2019), during the 1980s and 1990s Venezuela underwent a transcendental change in its migration patterns. The severe crisis in which the country was submerged not only had discouraging effects on migratory movements from abroad, but also contributed to triggering processes of the return of foreigners living in South American countries, and the emigration of Venezuelans, who also reacted to the situation of economic decline, social decomposition and institutional deterioration. However, it is during the last decade that this dynamic seemed to have increased, in its economic, social or political retention. The Venezuelan nation did not have the experience of international emigration, which implied leaving the place of origin for a prolonged or indefinite period of time (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

2.1.4. Period 2000 – 2010

The beginning of the 21st century in Venezuela started with deficiencies and emigration of all kinds, among them: engineers, scientists, technicians, academics, health professionals, businessmen and sportsmen. This period is considered the turning point or critical stage, which serves to explain the reasons, and evolution of the Venezuelan migratory process, which will have a considerable growth with respect to the previous stage (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

With the seizure of power in Venezuela by Hugo Chávez Frías in 1999, the Bolivarian Revolution was established, and a new constitution was promoted, which led to the implementation of the so-called 21st century socialism (Requena & Caputo, 2016). With this, the foundations were laid for the increase of the Venezuelan migratory process, since emigration was a process that occurred very sporadically, given that Venezuelans assumed that their future was not compromised, to which it is added that the governmental commitment of the president generated in middle and upper class citizens a feeling of threat to their security, personal

integrity and their economic interests, so they chose to flee to another country (García Arias & Restrepo Pineda, 2019).

This period is characterized by the crisis of governance, and policies that are perceived negatively by the population, making a growing process of emigration difficult. Since then, violations of people's rights were already taken into place, particularly in the public sector opposed to the ruling party, and extending to other sectors of the population.

Several moments characterize this stage: the first is related to the presidential election of former military officer Hugo Chávez, who, with his political project, caused a scenario of social and economic uncertainty, insecurity, lack of job opportunities and purchasing power. Also, it must be taken into account that one of the characteristics of this first mandate was the contempt towards the so-called rich sectors, the middle class, and the professional and intellectual class of Venezuela. University professionals, among them scientists, began to be seen by the regime of Chávez as privileged, with little concern for the country and for their compatriots; this argument was decisive for many Venezuelans in their decision to leave the country (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

Barely three years into his term, Hugo Chávez's popularity was declining significantly, due to the fall in economic production, the deterioration of public services and the unprecedented increase in crime and insecurity (Casas & Carter, 2017). During this period, the highest point of uncertainty together with the generalized crisis of governance was reflected in April 2002, when a strike was called by the oil company Petróleos de Venezuela S.A. (PDVSA), a strategic company that aimed to sustain the country's economy; created a strike that was joined by

political, business, health and religious organizations, which continued until the resignation and subsequent return to power of Commander Hugo Chávez.

After these demonstrations and the apparent stabilization in power of President Hugo Chávez, his government policies were characterized by a radicalization of the political model, which, following his reelection in 2006, was consolidated under the name of Socialism of the XXI Century. During his second term, reforms were carried out such as the expropriation of companies, monetary reconversion, and cessation of concessions of national television channels, nationalization of telephone, water and electricity companies, and the modification of the National Constitution by referendum, in which the right to indefinite reelection was instituted. All of this occurred while oil revenues, with the price of a barrel at \$100 dollars, somehow diminished the effects of the crisis (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

2.1.5. Period 2010 – 2019

In this period, political events play a preponderant role dragging along with them social and economic aspects at the moment of making the decision to emigrate. The reelection of Hugo Chavez as president in 2012, who was in a recovery process against cancer and his health condition decisive, was uncertain for the political future of Venezuela, until the announcement of his death in March 2013 (Salazar-Calderón, 2015).

The rise of Nicolás Maduro, after having won a widely questioned election, produces political events that have been accumulating from previous stages and are forcing some people to leave the country. During 2014, following a call by the opposition, created a series of protests

against the government's inability to implement policies to improve the living conditions of the population, in a country with high rates of unemployment, inflation, poverty, criminality and violence (Pismataro & Gehring, 2018).

These events increase the decision of Venezuelans to emigrate, since the government of Nicolás Maduro represents the deepening of the same political model of 1999. People were also highly vulnerable due to the constant persecution by the State, which led to an increase in asylum requests and exile cases (Torres Urbano, 2016).

During 2015, the parliamentary elections for deputies were held, and for many Venezuelans this political event represented a decisive aspect of whether or not to emigrate from the country. Despite having a counterweight to certain official decisions, in December of the same year, the ruling party managed to counteract the legislative activities by dismissing deputies and preventing the different laws generated from the debates, which, far from advancing, added tension to the political situation in Venezuela (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

From 2016 to the present, the increasing crisis is beginning to change the way Venezuelans make the decision to emigrate. Various problems affecting Venezuelans can be summarized in increased personal insecurity, lack of housing, food shortages, unemployment, business closures, increased restrictions, political persecution, and closing of social media (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

The main decision to emigrate continues to be to improve the quality of life, but now the new emigrants seek minimum living conditions such as food and medical care, which are already scarce in Venezuela due to the high costs that have become inaccessible to the sector of the population with lower economic capacity. In this period, unlike the previous ones, emigrating is no longer focused on how one is going to be incorporated into the possible destination country, but rather, the objective is to leave Venezuela, and that is why the border countries of the region have become imminent destinations (Peñafiel Chang, 2020).

After the death of Hugo Chávez, Nicolás Maduro took power and the socioeconomic situation of the country worsened, presenting one of the biggest migratory crises in Venezuela, which increased the departure of Venezuelans to Colombia, Ecuador, and Peru as main destinations. Also thousands of Colombians who had settled in the neighboring country in search of better opportunities, returned to their country (Ruiz Méndez, 2018).

2.2. Venezuelan migratory crisis and its relationship with the Ecuadorian State

The deepening of the political, social, economic and humanitarian crisis that Venezuela has experienced in recent years and, consequently, its collateral effects that affect the countries of the South American region, are expressed in terms of the exponential increase in the flow of migration through irregular channels, as well as the deterioration of border security and the expansion of transnational crime, making it a factor of regional instability.

The change in the Venezuelan migratory pattern occurs under very special national and international conditions. This migratory event occurred in years with high economic income from oil production, and the income received during the last 20 years exceeding by more than six times the national income of the 40 years of democracy between 1958 and 1998. In other words,

the exodus of Venezuelans occurred during the years of the greatest oil bonanza (Páez B & Phélan C, 2018).

To have a better idea of the volume of Venezuelans who have migrated to neighboring countries in the Latin American region, a table with official figures on the total number of Venezuelans legally residing in the country is presented below:

Table 1. Distribution of the Venezuelan migrant population in Latin American countries, 2019

Country	Data date	Venezuelan population	%
Colombia	1/31/2021	1,742,927	37.65%
Peru	8/31/2020	1,043,460	22.54%
Chile	6/30/2019	472,827	10.21%
Ecuador	3/5/2021	443,705	9.58%
Brazil	10/31/2020	261,441	5.65%
Argentina	2/24/2021	222,658	4.81%
Panama	12/31/2020	121,601	2.63%
Dominican Republic	6/30/2019	114,500	2.47%
Mexico	10/7/2020	101,648	2.20%
Costa Rica	12/31/2019	29,820	0.64%
Trinidad and Tobago	12/31/2020	24,169	0.52%
Uruguay	12/1/2020	19,155	0.41%
Curacao	12/31/2020	17,000	0.37%
Guyana	11/11/2019	11,881	0.26%
Paraguay	12/31/2020	2,531	0.05%
Total		4,629,323	100.00%

Notes:

Source: R4V(2021; https://r4v.info/es/situations/platform)

According to the statistics presented in Table 1, there are approximately 4,356,521 Venezuelan migrants in Latin America, of which 443,705 (9.58%) are in Ecuador, the country with the fourth largest Venezuelan population in the region. Colombia is the main receiving country of Venezuelan migrants due to its territorial proximity; it is estimated that 1,742,927

^{*} Update carried out by the Ministry of Government (2020)

Venezuelans are in Colombian territory, representing 37.65% of the total in the region. In second place is Peru with 1,043,460 Venezuelans (22.54%), followed by Chile with 472,827 (10.21%). Thus, it is estimated that 80% of Venezuelans who have migrated to Latin American countries are in Colombia, Peru, Chile and Ecuador.

According to the research conducted by Ramírez (2020), the author states that "It should be noted that Ecuador is mainly a transit country for this migration since, the entire Venezuelan population that entered Ecuador in the last decade, only 16% decided to stay" (p. 7). Currently, of the estimated 443,705 in the country, 202,489 have residence and regular stay permits granted, representing 45.6%.

The figures presented demonstrate the existence of the current migratory crisis that affects both Venezuelans who left their country in search of better living conditions, as well as the receiving countries, demanding public services for their health and education, also involving great efforts in terms of migration management and internal security.

Although human rights establish that migrants (just because they are migrants) do not lose their respective rights as citizens, therefore the states subscribed to the Declaration of Human Rights have the obligation to guarantee that migrants have access to universal and inalienable services such as: health, education, quality of life, and work with benefits of the law, among others (Díaz de Perales & Perales, 2020b).

During the last five years (2016-2021), the Ecuadorian government has implemented a series of measures and regulations in order to contain the migration of Venezuelans to the country, increasing the number and difficulty of requirements, preventing their entry into Ecuador. In this sense, Burbano, Zaldívar and Vera (2019), refer that the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Human Mobility has incurred in violations of Human Rights, and international conventions through the imposition of rules to prevent the entry of Venezuelan migrants to Ecuador, among which stand out: The application for a passport instead of the identity card of the country of origin, the presentation of "lawful means of livelihood" and the registration of personal insurance (private or IESS). These requirements are not demanded to migrants from other countries of origin such as Colombia or Peru.

2.3. Vulnerability of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador

2.3.1. Labor

In relation to the economic aspect, the vulnerability of Venezuelan migrants is observed, since most of them have low salaries and live on what they can earn in their daily work, sometimes displacing the Ecuadorian population from informal jobs, and in popular markets with the proliferation of street sales. This situation, coupled with the crisis in the Ecuadorian economy, puts Venezuelan migrants even more in a position of rejection by Ecuadorians (Díaz de Perales & Perales, 2020a).

According to Flores-Díaz and Crocker-Sagastume (2020), the situation of informal migrant workers is complex and inconvenient for them, since, in addition to their migratory

status, which may be illegal in most cases, are not adequately protected by laws, and legal regulations to defend them from occupational accidents or other threats.

Another situation that can be highlighted is the exploitation of employers with respect to migrant workers, since they hire them at lower wages than those established, taking advantage of their income status to pay them a remuneration that is not in accordance with the work performed or without payment of social security (Díaz de Perales & Perales, 2020a).

Venezuelan migrant workers who carry out street vending in the city of Quito are exposed to the following occupational risks: physical risks due to exposure of ultraviolet rays and noise from cars; mechanical risks related to being run over; chemical risks due to polluting emissions in the atmosphere caused by car fumes (black carbon PM2. 5); biological risks due to the exposure of their food to bacteria, parasites and fungi that live in street environments and can enter the human body using the different entry routes within their reach; ergonomic caused by standing postures for long working days and by lifting weights (Flores-Díaz & Crocker-Sagastume, 2020).

2.3.2. Xenophobia

A new development in the South American region, particularly in Ecuador, has been the development of xenophobic attitudes towards Venezuelan migrants, who have been harassed by xenophobic attacks sponsored by the media and by political sectors of Ecuadorian society, in violation of the law on human mobility and the law of communication, among others, and at the same time the constitution of the republic itself (Díaz de Perales & Perales, 2020a).

2.4. Impact of Venezuelan migrants and refugees in Ecuador

According to the OXFAM report (2019), by 2019 it was estimated that, more than 4.4 million Venezuelans had left their country, as a result of a prolonged and acute economic, political and social crisis; of these, about 2.8 million migrated to other countries in Latin America and the Caribbean, especially Colombia, Peru and Ecuador.

On the other hand, according to data from the National Secretariat of Communication, as of August 2018, 641,353 Venezuelans had entered Ecuador; while 18% of them (115,690) remained with the intention of living in the country (Burbano Alarcón et al., 2019).

The beginning of the massive migration of Venezuelans to Ecuador coincides with the emergence of the country's economic crisis, which is primarily the result of the sustained fall in oil prices in the international market, which forced the government to apply policies to reduce social spending; in addition, there is an increase in spending caused by the arrival, transit and settlement of Venezuelan migrants in the national territory (Díaz de Perales & Perales, 2020a).

Informal activities are carried out in the main and most populated cities such as Guayaquil in the Coast Region, as well as Cuenca and Quito in the Inter-Andean Region. In the latter, as the Ecuadorian capital, there are numerous Venezuelan citizens in the streets who have joined the street sales market, finding large blocks with stalls selling footwear, clothing, natural beverages and phone accessories (Flores-Díaz & Crocker-Sagastume, 2020).

On the other hand, there has been an increase in criminal acts involving Venezuelan migrants in some areas of Ecuador that previously reported a low incidence of crime; this has been associated with the illegal entry of Venezuelans with irregular behaviors, who are in the minority, and who are in search of easy money; unfortunately, the visibility of this group is what provides a bad image of Venezuelan migrants, the vast majority of whom have moved to Ecuador in search of better opportunities and quality of life, which they seek to achieve through their own efforts and productive work (Díaz de Perales & Perales, 2020a).

Likewise, the increase of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador has led to an increase in the demand for health services that were already deficient, a budget allocation for humanitarian aid, and the reformulation of Ecuador's migration policy, due to the number of citizens arriving in this country, a situation that contradicts the constitutional mandate related to the rights of migrants (Díaz de Perales & Perales, 2020a).

According to data from the 2019 OXFAM survey, the overwhelming perception that public social services, particularly health and, in some ways, education are being overwhelmed (OXFAM, 2019).

On the other hand, there are also positive contributions of Venezuelan migration in Ecuador. A considerable percentage of Venezuelan migrants are trained at the technical and professional level, and have a variety of complementary skills. According to the ILO Andean Countries study (2020), due to the Venezuelan educational system, prior to the era of the Bolivarian Revolution, a culture of formal educational preparation was developed in Venezuela,

so that migration presents an abundance of professionals with a good level of training, including doctors, dentists, teachers and engineers. It has also been found that Venezuelans have diversified the typical flavors of the cuisine and contributed significantly in some areas, such as the formation of Salsa orchestras (OXFAM, 2019).

CHAPTER III

Actions to be carried out to improve the guarantee of rights of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador

3.1. Action 1: Promoting global citizenship and free mobility at the international level

In the context of the era of globalization in which the world is immersed, many of the categories and conceptions related to the concept of the national State are in crisis and, as a result, new categories emerge that respond to this interconnection that is experienced daily through flights, international trade, crossing of land borders, Internet-based telecommunications, among other activities (Ayala Méndez, 2013).

Thus, along with globalization, the growth of information technologies and the development of communication networks, have made cities the main players in the global economy and communications, so that the concentration and convergence of various fields in cities show a rapid movement of the world towards the further development of metropolises and their conversion into global cities and, finally, to world cities (Goodarzi, 2016).

In this context, the change in the configuration of social, economic, and human mobility relations produces a change in the relationship between people and geographic spaces, such as cities. Therefore, a set of cultures and needs are transferred to urban centers, modifying the perception of citizenship.

The term "citizenship" comes from the Latin word civis, meaning the position of the individual in civitas, the city (Guia, 2016). According to Giraldo-Zuluaga (2015), the notion of citizenship has changed and evolved throughout history, showing the changing relationship between individuals and power, extending and adding new contours and nuances. This evolution is mainly due to the political, economic and social transformations faced by the nation-state. On the other hand, globalization is closely related to integration, like markets, economies, regions, countries, customs, etc., and constitutes a process that takes place worldwide, allowing and imposing diverse relationships among human beings (Parada Barrera, 2009).

Giraldo-Zuluaga (2015), refers that "citizenship, then, is conceived -in our times- mainly as a status (position or condition) in which access to basic resources for the exercise of rights and duties is requested, defined and made possible" (p. 79). In Thomas Marshall's view (1950, cited by Guia, 2016), the citizen should benefit from the ability to exercise full social, economic, and cultural rights, including a plurality of privileges; with this, Marshall sought to ensure that this liberal concept of citizenship could be challenged and discussed.

In this context, citizenship, in the framework of globalization and increasing human mobility, is emerging as a topic of broad discussion in societies and their governments, since cross-border mobility implies risks and threats that must be controlled. Migrants demand different services, just like the citizens of a country, such as health, education, food, housing, and among others of universal nature. Therefore, regularization and legality are directly related to the rights that can be acquired as a citizen.

Sometimes, the term universalism describes a socio-political idea that is directly related to social policy objectives. Reference can be made to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which explicitly refer to this universality in the field of social policies, for example, with the goal of achieving universal health coverage by 2030, which should be embraced by UN member countries (Budowski & Künzler, 2020).

In recent years, a current of new law focusing on universal citizenship has gained strength. In this regard, the work of Ayala Méndez (2013) makes reference to the close relationship between globalization and the flexibilization of transit and migration requirements, emphasizing that universal citizenship is aimed at strengthening the fundamental rights contained in the Declaration of Human Rights.

As an example of cross-border citizenship, the progress of European citizenship can be mentioned. According to Guia (2016), the notion of European Union citizenship complements that of national citizenship; however, European citizenship, provided for in the 1992 Maastricht Treaty, only exists to the extent that the individual is a citizen in one of the European Union member states. According to research by Guia (2016), European citizenship provides for:

- a. freedom of movement and the right of residence in any member state (ibid.);
- b. the right to vote in elections in the member state of residence (provided that the election is a European or municipal election in the state) (ibid.);
- c. the right to benefit from the diplomatic protection of any Member State other than the one to which he/she belongs (if there is representation in the State where the citizen is located) (ibid.); and

d. the right to lodge a complaint with the European Ombudsman and to petition the European Parliament (ibid.).

All of this is part of the principle of universal citizenship, promoted by the European Union. According to Vera et al. (2019), the term universal citizenship is not particularly new, given that it is possible to situate it within the constructivist and guarantor principle of human rights that has been infused in the Kantian cosmopolitan model regarding Universal Hospitality and the Cosmopolitan State. In this sense, Kant's (1998) perspective establishes two types of citizens, the active ones who enjoy freedom and representativeness due to their condition of owners, while the passive ones lack property, so they do not have political vocation.

The concept of world citizen acquired its meaning within the context of humanity, feelings, emotions, needs, and common instincts that have a global perspective. This concept is considered a tool that should make the government more accountable and not necessarily the denial of national interests and sovereignty (Goodarzi, 2016).

With respect to social services such as health care and education, equality of access is also related to the geographic distribution of facilities, the budget for the sustainability of the service, and the capacity to serve a given population size. Unlike education, where access is generally an obligation and a legal or constitutional right, health care services must be accessible to those who need them. Therefore, universal acceptance does not mean the same thing in the fields of health care, education and transfers, depending on the country concerned. Generally,

legal rights or institutional practice are described as universal when they include the vast majority of the population (Budowski & Künzler, 2020).

According to Myers (2016), global citizenship education refers to a range of educational practices focused on the knowledge, understanding, skills, values and attitudes that students need, to participate fully in a globalized society and economy, and to ensure a fairer, safer and sustainable world. However, in many cases, access to educational services is limited due to lack of documentation, budgetary constraints, lack of educational spaces, and availability in classrooms. Because of this, migrant children and adolescents may find their schooling interrupted and threatened.

Drerup (2019), points out that global citizenship, as an educational endeavor, comprises the dimensions: moral, political, legal, cultural, economic, spiritual and environmental; global citizenship encompasses moral and legal universalism, educational universalism, political universalism and epistemological universalism.

A global solution for citizenship should be understood as a framework between various institutional sectors for interpreting the world and, therefore, does not replace other ways of knowing and interpreting the world (Myers, 2016). However, the integration of state policies for the provision of institutional services involves a great governmental and financial effort, given that the transit of citizens from other countries produces an impact on public services, such as the case of the high rate of Venezuelan migrants to Ecuador, which has increased the use of health, education, security and migration services, among others.

It is feasible, therefore, to think of functional differentiation to establish the limits of global citizenship. According to Halfmann (1998), the concept of functional differentiation is used to reformulate citizenship as a factor of inclusion in the political system, and also to describe the effects of the segmentation of the political system by the nation-state on the evolution of citizenship. The author adds that, in modern society, which is functionally differentiated in nature, inclusion is system-specific but not all-encompassing, since inclusion in the political system is offered through two types of roles: the secular role of the voter and the professional role of the politician.

This implies that citizenship can be differentiated according to its proprietary nature by birthright or naturalization, as well as by the political and institutional will of the State, which requires its specification in legal regulations. In this sense, the association between the needs of a global citizenship, in accordance with inclusive proposals such as those set forth in the SDGs - for example- and the national interests of a country becomes complex, where the existence of threats due to the high volume of migrants or the attractiveness for the extraction of goods, drug trafficking, human trafficking and other crimes affecting national security can be interpreted.

Citizenship, influenced by globalization, has led cities to increasingly collaborate with other cities across complex citizen needs in order to promote individual citizenship. As major cities within a country are introduced to the global city and world city level, become more effective in trends that shape the needs of citizens and cities through the creation of urban

networks, known as sisters, witnessing a wide range of influence in the city and consequently in the country (Goodarzi, 2016).

The universalism of inclusion in the political system owes its specific characteristics to the role played by the sovereign territorial state and, later, the nation-state in the emergence of modern society; thus, the revolutionary concept of citizenship implied both: equality of citizens in the political sphere, and inclusive universalism for all free individuals in the 'etat civil' or civil state (Halfmann, 1998).

Vera-Viteri et al. (2019), emphasizes that the most relevant contribution of the concept of Universal Citizenship is that it consists in that all people should enjoy equal rights and duties in any part or territory of the world. Therefore, the proposal of global citizenship seeks to extend political rights to foreigners, trying to put both nationals and migrants on an equal footing, thus respecting their decision and right to organized human mobility and to freely and voluntarily choose the place to live, progressively ending their status as foreigners.

Based on past information stated, there may be variations in the approach to universal citizenship, for example, in Ecuador or countries in the South American region. This implies a legislative challenge, although the solution may also pose flexibility in the rights acquired as a universal citizen in a State to which one has no belonging or ownership. Political participation and the enjoyment of citizenship rights, therefore, constitute the focus of contrast in the promotion of global citizenship, since the most important issue in the discussion would be to

establish the limits of political participation and how public services can be financed for the inclusion of global citizens, reducing their social impact.

3.2. Action 2: Strengthen the protection of the rights of the population in a situation of human mobility

Human Rights encompass all the essential needs of the human being, who is projected as a person, so that these rights include the entire individual by the mere fact of being so (Cornelio Landero, 2015). After the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the extension and expansion of the international system in this matter produced the development of different legal instruments, as well as institutional mechanisms and bodies to ensure compliance, observation, interpretation, and attention of cases of violations or individual communications (Suárez Molina et al., 2020).

In this regard, Ecuador sought at the international level the signing of bilateral and multilateral agreements in order to establish a humanitarian policy to protect migrants; one of these agreements was signed by the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela in 2010, with the so-called 'Migratory Statute'; as an important element of this agreement, its preamble establishes a series of principles with a rights-based approach, such as: "there are no illegal human beings, no criminalization and penalization of irregular migration, unrestricted respect for the human rights of migrants and free mobility" (Ramirez, 2020, p. 6).

The 2008 Constitution establishes all citizen guarantees and civil liberties, as well as the different protections enjoyed before the State. The Magna Carta is humanist, since it establishes

equal treatment for all people within Ecuador, whether citizens or foreigners, and the latter regardless of their migratory status, social class, race or ethnicity, among others.

According to the research work of Vera-Viteri et al.(2019), Ecuador has emerged as one of the main references for the non-criminalization of migration in the region, including the discussion on the concept of universal citizenship, proposed as a guiding policy and with constitutional hierarchy to treat and address human mobility, as well as in the declaration of the Latin American and Caribbean region as a zone of peace. Ecuador is also considered to have one of the most humanitarian legislations for the treatment of migrants, making it one of the most important recipients of refugees in Latin America.

However, the restrictions for the granting of citizenship through modifications of the regulations and full respect for the rights of migrants is determined by the economic possibilities of the applicant, given that the value of the temporary residence visa varies between USD 200 and USD 400, adding the value of the application for USD 50.

Ramírez states that "[the] South American citizenship is the legal condition of progressive access to rights, duties and obligations by UNASUR citizens. It is an expansion, not a substitute, of national citizenships" (2016, p. 80). In this sense, the generation of rights for the global citizen, is based on the elaboration of supranational legal norms that allow homogenizing, respecting, and monitoring the fulfillment of human rights.

Different international organizations have been concerned about monitoring the human rights of migrants in the countries and borders of the world, since vulnerability is one of the social and political phenomena that they seek to combat, given the existence of impunity and violations of rights that persist today (Cornelio Landero, 2015). This shows the interest in the protection of migrants, from institutional perspectives of countries and organizations that are formed to fight against the violation of human rights of migrants.

In Latin America there have been countless examples of human rights violations; reference can be made to the abuses and violations received by Central American immigrants bound for the United States and passing through the southern border of Mexico, in which International Law has not been able to directly influence to eradicate human rights violations (Cornelio Landero, 2015). In this context, there is a clear need for inclusive policies aimed at respecting the human rights of migrants, who need access to sources of employment and public services such as health and education.

One of the main motivations of migrants is the search for sources of employment or income that allow them to improve living conditions for themselves and their families, which is why the right to work is established as one of the main rights for people in mobility. In this regard, Camargo and Córdova (2018), refer that the codification of migrant labor in Ecuador is necessary, given that they consider that the current Labor Code does not specifically contemplate the right to work for foreigners. The authors mention that migrants are victims of informal contracts in which, due to their need for work, they are paid less than the Unified Basic Wage, and are not duly registered with the Ecuadorian Social Security Institute (IESS).

Based on precious information stated, Venezuelan migrants can be considered a population group at risk and vulnerable in Ecuador, so institutional policies should be promoted to facilitate the regularization of all people in human mobility, of which it is estimated that 55% are in an irregular migratory situation within the country. This increases the possibility of social exclusion and, consequently, ineffective enforcement and respect for human rights, increased personal abuse and mistreatment, as well as an increase in xenophobia.

3.2.1. Contradictions related to universal citizenship

In Latin America, especially in South America, progress has been made towards the development of universal citizenship through alliances such as UNASUR and MERCOSUR; however, the legal regulations of the member countries are not entirely harmonized, which generates conflicts between regulations, confusion and inequalities (Álvarez Velasco, 2020). In this regard, the lack of coordination between countries to adjust their legal norms to guarantee universal citizenship to South Americans, for example, stands out, although it could be extended to other nationalities.

Alvarez Velasco (2020), refers that the political discourse in Ecuador managed to distort the impression that foreigners had or managed to have of the country; It was described as "the country of universal citizenship", which implied the non-requirement of a visa to enter Ecuadorian territory, facilitating the legality of immigrants, while at the same time it meant the possibility of taking refuge in a country without risk to enter. However, this discourse held during the presidency of Rafael Correa during 2007-2017 was dissonant with the still in force

Immigration Law of 1971, which allowed the executive branch to decide whether or not an immigrant could enter Ecuadorian territory, even if he or she complied with the requirements established in the Law.

Thus, during the period 2007-2017, arbitrary acts were committed against migrants based on the 1971 law; persecutions against migrants and surveillance of migrants were recorded. However, under the government of Lenín Moreno between 2017 and 2021, there was an open neoliberal turn with the new mobility law, taking migration control to levels never seen before in Ecuador; with imbalances in the criteria for the allocation of visas, increasing the asymmetry of power and the vulnerability of the human rights of migrants (Álvarez Velasco, 2020).

Incidents associated with racist or discriminatory behavior by immigration officials against Haitian and Cuban migrants can be mentioned (Álvarez Velasco, 2020); which somehow legalizes the treatment of immigrants as second-class citizens, totally contrary to what is stated in the National Development Plan 2017-2021 Toda una vida, which describes Ecuador as a benchmark for human mobility and promoter of universal citizenship (Burbano Alarcón et al., 2019).

In this regard, according to Navarro (2013), citizenship "is understood as a political, social and legal recognition by which a person has rights and duties for belonging to a community or a territory" (p. 181). South American countries have a common history, from times when there were only indigenous territories, through Spanish colonization, independence and modern times, in which political life has been debated between democracies and dictatorships; therefore, it is

feasible to move towards universal citizenship in Latin American countries, but it is necessary that it is based on real purposes to guarantee citizens the rights that this implies.

For Navarro Hoyos (2013), it is essential to have the ability to exercise rights and duties within a framework of universal citizenship, which leads to being part of a community; in addition, it is considered that, in the 2008 Constitution of Ecuador, the concept of citizenship transcends the regional scope and accommodates Universal citizenship, as one of the guiding principles of the international relations of the Ecuadorian State with other countries.

Universalism has become a main idea of global social policy and global social security in particular. So all major international organizations subscribe to the idea of universalism, but some nationalist, authoritarian, and theocratic regimes have been questioning the idea, as well as some intellectuals in democratic societies who see universalism as a late colonial or patriarchal Western ideology (Leisering, 2020). Here, there is a contrast between liberals and nationalists, between positions in favor of globalization and those who fear and distrust it.

Discussions on concrete proposals for some form of universal social protection that have taken place in several developing countries provide further insights into public attitudes towards redistribution. An example of this is the basic income subsidy advocated by the European Basic Income Network, which would be a universal minimum income guarantee for all individuals in society, thus dispensing with complex and costly measures to establish eligibility (Kabeer, 2014).

The basic income subsidy would cover basic needs and would be financed through a progressive income tax system. Interestingly, the idea has generated greater interest in South Africa and Brazil: both have one of the most unequal income distributions in the world, but both are engaged in redefining their social contracts after prolonged periods of political struggle (Kabeer, 2014).

Everything mentioned before is part of a complex debate that exists in the American continent, due to the diversity of reasons why people migrate or are displaced. Because of this, many people seeking a better life through migration go through different countries, often under a plan and sometimes improvising; thus, it is possible that countries such as Ecuador serve as a bridge or link for migrants to reach other destinations, as in the case of migration by land from Venezuela to Peru or Chile.

Citizens from Haiti, Cuba, and some countries in Africa and the Middle East, have used Ecuador as an international bridge or transit country. "Migration in transit" is a category that is increasingly present in academic, media and political discourses. The United Nations Commission for Europe (UNECE) defines transit migration as migration to one country with the intention of seeking the possibility of migrating to another country as the final destination, while the International Organization for Migration (IOM) provides a definition in its Study of Transit Migration in Azerbaijan, which specifics that transit migrants are defined as foreigners who remain in the country for some period of time, while wishing to migrate permanently to another country, a temporary, short-term stay of a migrant on his or her way from a country of origin to a country of destination. Under this approach, the transit country can become the destination

country and vice versa, since the transit country category is part of a logic of externalization of the borders of the destination country (López Rivera & Wessel, 2017).

3.3. Action 3: Comprehensive plan for the attention and protection of rights in the context of the increased Venezuelan migratory flow in Ecuador

According to Fasin (2016), Ecuador presents itself as a humanitarian government, understood as a manifestation of moral sentiments in policies, migratory in this case, which includes discourses and practices of government intervention. In them, suffering appears as a new lexicon that justifies welfare practices; also, they serve to initially position Venezuelan immigrants as victims who suffer the consequences of the bad government of Nicolás Maduro in Venezuela.

Although the set of norms, such as laws, decrees, agreements, regulations, and policies associated with the issue of migration are important tools in migration diplomacy, and important tools in their own right, it should be noted that the latter is used not only as an international policy tool, but also to adjust internal relations with the countries of origin (Ramírez, 2020).

In September 2018, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Human Mobility (MREMH) published the Comprehensive Plan for the Care and Protection of the Venezuelan Population in Human Mobility in Ecuador 2020-2021, which establishes the strategic lines of action to assist Venezuelan migrants. The objective of this instrument is to:

Generate strategic guidelines so that the Ecuadorian State, together with international organizations, civil society and other pertinent actors, carry out and continue executing

programs and actions in favor of Venezuelan migrants who enter, transit, stay, leave and return to Ecuador. These guidelines will be enforced with a human rights approach, and with a projection into the future, including the quantification of costs, financing needs and compliance evaluations (MREMH, 2018, p. 14).

The specific objectives contemplated to address the growing Venezuelan migration in Ecuador are as follows:

- Detect in a comprehensive manner the problems faced by Venezuelan migrants in Ecuadorian territory.
- 2. To analyze the initiatives carried out by the Ecuadorian State to face the unusual flow of Venezuelan migrants that have entered the national territory.
- 3. Determine the critical points of Venezuelan migration and generate solutions that provide decent living conditions and respect for the human rights of this population group, on equal terms with the population living in Ecuadorian territory.
- 4. To interact with the various sectors involved in the problems faced by Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador.
- 5. To reflect the initiatives that are being promoted in favor of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador.
- 6. To make a first evaluation of the actions proposed by the State regarding the migration of Venezuelan citizens to Ecuador.
- 7. To create a special office for Venezuelan migrants and refugees.

This would allow those who have difficulties with their documents to be regularized, always under national security guidelines so that the rights and security of Ecuadorian nationals

are not violated. Also, it is necessary to assign a health monitoring team to reduce risks and control factors associated with morbidity and mortality.

This public policy is framed within the Human Rights approach, whose principles are based on the spirit of the Constitution of the Republic of Ecuador of 2008. However, there are contradictions in the document since it exposes, on the one hand, the humanistic vision of the regulations while, on the other hand, it highlights the risk that the high migration of Venezuelans represents for national security.

The disposition of the Sate is necessary for the organization and control of the regularization of Venezuelan migrants, in order to promote the integral participation of this group in the social and economic life of the country; likewise, the respect for the human rights of the population in a situation of mobility provides the means of protection, and control of crimes such as human trafficking and migrant smuggling.

Health care for migrants should be a fundamental objective of the policies and strategies aimed at the migrant population. According to the study conducted by Burgos and Parvic (2011), "The migrant population constitutes a vulnerable group in terms of health, as there are a series of variables associated with the phenomenon of relocation and settlement that can alter the biopsychosocial balance" (p. 590).

One of the limitations that may be present in the implementation of this proposal is the financial factor, since it may be costly for the State, and may affect the budget allocated to other

areas and sectors of the country. However, different international organizations and foundations created in Ecuador can finance and provide technical support for the implementation of this proposal, such as the UNHCR, which is the UN Refugee Agency and the International Organization for Migration (IOM) with more than 150 affiliated agencies, who have launched a plan in 2021 for the care of displaced Venezuelans (UN, 2020).

In addition, a considerable number of Venezuelan migrants have university degrees, including medicine, dentistry and nursing, who can be employed directly for the development of the care proposal, avoiding the use of human resources already established in the country, which would reduce the impact on the public health system facilities.

3.4. Perspectives of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador

Based on the interviews carried out by six Venezuelans residing in the city of Cuenca, it was possible to obtain different impressions and perspectives of migration. It is noted that the treatment of employers towards Venezuelans varies; which shows that there is unequal and discriminatory treatment in some workplaces, while the disadvantage of non-regularized Venezuelans is used to avoid notice of entry, payment of IESS and other labor obligations (L. Perdomo, personal communication, April 15, 2021).

There have been confusions and normative divergences related to the documentation required to carry out the regularization process. In the interviews, there was a case of a Venezuelan woman who had all her documents ready, but a new legal norm prevented her from carrying out the procedure, since she was required to present documentation proving that she had

legal means of livelihood, that is, that she had a job with which to guarantee her food and housing; but this was contradictory, since some employers require a visa to hire a Venezuelan citizen (S. Rodríguez, personal communication, April 17, 2021).

Another aspect to highlight is that the Venezuelan authorities responsible for issuing identity documents are delayed with the issuance of passports and passport extensions, which makes it difficult and impossible to regularize the status of Venezuelan migrants in Ecuador. In addition, the pandemic has impacted access to employment or the development of businesses in order to pay the fees and fines that are required in many cases (M. González, personal communication, April 18, 2021).

There are still cases of unequal treatment and discrimination based on the physical appearance or identity of foreigners. On some occasions, Venezuelan migrants have been intercepted by police officers because of their physical appearance, recognizable as foreigners, thus feeling a certain level of discrimination (J. Espinoza, personal communication, April 21, 2021).

In addition, unequal treatment is present in some work spaces; such as the case of an interviewee who was required to work on weekends with less play than legally established for overtime work, being forced to accept these conditions, while other colleagues of Ecuadorian nationality were not required to work on Saturdays or Sundays (O. Higuera, personal communication, April 24, 2021). On the other hand, there has been notable discrimination by

employers when soliciting employees, as some have posted signs indicating that Venezuelans are not accepted for employment (C. Alvarado, personal communication, April 26, 2021).

3.4.1. Considerations based on the interviews

Among the experiences of Venezuelans in Ecuador, those related to labor and the regularization of their situation in the country stand out. The following are listed below:

- Changes in the legal regulations for the legalization of migrants in Ecuador, which
 make the process more difficult.
- 2. The requirement of "lawful means of livelihood" to grant the visa is seen as a different treatment towards Venezuelans, since for other nationalities -such as the United Statesthis documentation is not required, which shows a differentiating treatment towards the Venezuelan population that emigrates to Ecuador.
- 3. There have been situations of xenophobic and discriminatory treatment towards Venezuelan migrants.
- 4. Some employers take advantage of the situation of Venezuelan migrants and offer lower pay for work, while at the same time they do not register with the IESS.
- 5. Some landlords are explicitly rejecting Venezuelans from renting them housing. This is a clear discrimination based on nationality.

Among the positive aspects highlighted by Venezuelan migrants is that they, perceive greater personal security in Ecuador than in their country of origin. They say that, although one of the main reasons for migration is the precarious economic situation, where monthly income is below US\$5.00, a very important motivation was personal safety. The constant anxiety due to

the generalized violence in the country, the free circulation of criminal gangs and the increasing common delinquency drove many Venezuelans to leave their country. They say that it is a permanent exposure to criminal actions, which can lead to violence and even death, since the number of armed robberies, shootings and extortions has been increasing for a long time. On the contrary, in Ecuador they feel more at ease; the economic situation and dollarization serve as a basis for the stability of salaries, prices, access to quality services such as Internet and mobile phone, and the purchase of food and other goods.

The possibility of carrying out legal economic activities, registering with the Ecuadorian Social Security Institute (IESS) to pay social security and registering as micro-entrepreneurs with the Internal Revenue Service, generates the perception of economic freedom, which is necessary to develop businesses and not depend on working as employees. Whether as employees or as entrepreneurs, Venezuelan migrants feel peace of mind and security to generate income with which, in addition, they can send money to their relatives in Venezuela, either through official remittances or by exchange.

3.5. Perspectives of the current government

For Ecuador, the year 2021 represents a moment of change and inflection, since the presidential elections were held and were favorable for the candidate Guillermo Lasso of the CREO party, which has a political stance contrary to 'correísmo' that governed during the last 15 years: with Rafael Correa between 2006 and 2017 and Lenín Moreno from 2017 to 2021; thus, Lasso assumed the presidency of the country on May 24, 2021.

The current president Lasso stated during his last month of electoral campaign that he would regularize the situation of Venezuelan migrants who were in some kind of migratory fault. The president indicates that it is a double standard to demand that other countries treat their fellow Ecuadorian well, while foreigners are mistreated in Ecuador. Due to this, he will offer a extensive regularization of Venezuelans in the nation (Euronews, 2021).

According to xxxxx, the regularization of migrants can generate certain advantages, both for the migrant and at the social level since, on one hand, people who regularize their situation in the destination country can access a greater number of services and rights, such as education, health and in many cases housing, while entrepreneurship and the development of new forms of enterprise promote local and national economic growth. On the contrary, in the work of Perera and Velázquez (2013), it is mentioned that one of the most important disadvantages of the regularization of migrants is that this process may encourage illegal immigration, which may give the image of rewarding those who do not comply with regular requirements, and may become a harmful habitual practice.

In this regard, the perspectives of the current government tend to be focused on non-discrimination, contributing to a greater social order and providing protection to Venezuelans, who have been displaced by the precarious economic, political and social situation in Venezuela. Accordingly, ECLAC emphasizes that "regularization is the most effective measure to end the extreme vulnerability of migrants in an irregular situation" (Stefoni, 2018, p. 19).

The new government of Ecuador has among its objectives, the dynamization of the productive apparatus; the creation of jobs, the reduction of precarious work and the inclusion of workers in the social security system with actions that are in line with the social order, which includes the regularization of immigrants.

According to Kossoudji (2016), non-regularized immigrants often do not work in the occupation for which they were trained for because they do not have the proper credentials, or cannot use the credentials they have in the new country. Therefore, it is necessary to have a comprehensive system of attention to migrants, which exercises an effective migratory control within the framework of equality and non-discrimination, allowing the participation of people in the promotion and development of the productive apparatus, leading to economic growth.

CONCLUSIONS

The general objective of this study was to identify the actions to be taken by the Ecuadorian State, to improve the guarantee of the principle of equality and non-discrimination in relation to the human rights of Venezuelan immigrants in Ecuador. In order to accomplish this, a bibliographic review was carried out on the principle of equality and non-discrimination, as well as the discussion of regulations, documents of international organizations and different findings published by other researchers, which provided a clear idea of the current situation of migrants and displaced persons around the world.

Based on the review made, it can be concluded that the principle of equality and non-discrimination is a fundamental element of international human rights law. It promotes equal treatment of citizens, and prohibits discrimination on the grounds of race, color, sex, age, language, religion, political, national or social origin, property, birth, physical or mental disability, state of health, sexual and civil orientation, political, social or other status.

Ecuador has a progressive and protective Constitution, which recognizes the rights of citizens and migrants equally; however, there are disagreements between the legal norms related to migration.

Within the qualitative research that was applied through semi-structured interviews with six Venezuelan migrants residing in the city of Cuenca, in order to obtain their impressions about their migration to Ecuador, and also to determine their perspectives on the development of their daily activities in the country. These interviews resulted in the knowledge of some negative

experiences of unequal treatment by some authorities and employers, which contradicts the principle of equality and non-discrimination contemplated in the Declaration of Human Rights. On the other hand, Venezuelan migrants say that Ecuador has positive factors that contribute to the improvement of their quality of life, such as: dollarization, price stability, the possibility of entrepreneurship, access to education for children and access to health services.

There are still shortcomings in terms of compliance with human rights, particularly with respect to the principle of equality and non-discrimination, since discrimination against Venezuelan migrants and migrants of other nationalities continues to occur.

An important part of the proposal to attend to Venezuelan migrants is the creation of a special office to regularize the situation of those who have difficulties in presenting documentation, obtaining employment and health vulnerability. Its financing can be obtained through different mechanisms and international organizations that direct their efforts to assist migrants in vulnerable situations.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aguilar, T. V. (2020). ¿Sospechar para igualar? Un análisis «estricto» de la doctrina de las categorías sospechosas a partir de la jurisprudencia del Tribunal Constitucional peruano y la Corte Interamericana de Derechos Humanos. *Derecho PUCP*, 84, 49-87. https://doi.org/10.18800/derechopucp.202001.001
- Álvarez Velasco, S. (2020). Ilegalizados en Ecuador, el país de la "ciudadanía universal". Sociologias, 22(55), 138-170. https://doi.org/10.1590/15174522-101815
- Constitución de la República del Ecuador, 449 129 (2008). https://www.asambleanacional.gob.ec/sites/default/files/private/asambleanacional/filesas ambleanacionalnameuid-29/constitucion-republica-inc-sent-cc.pdf
- Ayala Méndez, Á. A. (2013). Ciudadanía universal: Hacia la construcción de una ciudadanía de la emancipación. *Revista Via Iuris*, *15*, 157-177. http://www.redalyc.org/pdf/2739/273931062010.pdf
- Boas, I., Kloppenburg, S., van Leeuwen, J., &Lamers, M. (2018). Environmental Mobilities: An Alternative Lens to Global Environmental Governance. *Environmental Mobilities*, *18*(4), 107-126. https://doi.org/10.1162/glep_a_00482
- Budowski, M., & Künzler, D. (2020). Universalism in Social Policies: A Multidimensional Concept, Policy Idea or Process. *Social Inclusion*, 8(1), 86-89. https://doi.org/10.17645/si.v8i1.2963
- Burbano Alarcón, M., Zaldívar, A., & Vera Puebla, M. F. (2019). La política pública migratoria ecuatoriana en el caso de la crisis migratoria venezolana. *Revista de la Facultad de Jurisprudencia de la PUCE*, 6, 121-137.
- Burgos Moreno, M., & Parvic Klijn, T. (2011). Atención en salud para migrantes: Un desafío ético. *Revista Brasileira de Enfermagem*, 64(3), 587-591. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0034-71672011000300025

- Camacho Monge, D. (2016). El concepto de Derechos Humanos. El dilema del carácter de los Derechos Humanos. *Revista de Ciencias Sociales (Cr)*, *II*(152), 1-7. https://www.redalyc.org/pdf/153/15348419001.pdf
- Camargo Martínez, T. T., & Córdova López, M. E. (2018). Codificación en el derecho de trabajo actual y el derecho de los trabajadores migrantes en el Ecuador. *Revista de Investigación Enlace Universitario*, 17(1), 10-17.
- Campani, G. (2014). Gender, citizenship and inequalities. *Journal for Educators, Teachers and Trainers JETT*, 5(3), 43-53.
- Canelón Silva, A. R., & Almansa Martínez, A. (2018). Migration: Challenges and opportunities from the perspective of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). *Retos*, 8(1), 107-118. https://doi.org/10.17163/ret.n16.2018.08
- Casas, K., & Carter, M. (2017). Más allá de los escándalos. El cambiante contexto de la corrupción en América Latina (Primera edición). The Dialogue.
- CIDH. (2019). Principios interamericanos sobre los derechos humanos de todas las personas migrantes, refugiadas, apátridas y las víctimas de la trata de personas (Resolución 04/19 aprobada por la Comisión el 7 de diciembre de 2019). OEA Comisión Interamericana de los Derechos Humanos. https://www.oas.org/es/cidh/informes/pdfs/Principios%20DDHH%20migrantes%20-%20ES.pdf
- Condori, M., Reyna, G. A., Villavicencio, A. C., Párraga, C. L., & Vilcapoma, D. (2020). Éxodo venezolano, inserción laboral y discriminación social en la ciudad de Huancayo, Perú. *Revista Espacios*, 41(27), 72-83. https://www.revistaespacios.com/a20v41n27/a20v41n27p08.pdf
- Cornelio Landero, R. (2015). Los derechos humanos de los inmigrantes de la frontera sur de México. *BARATARIA. Revista Castellano-Manchega de Ciencias sociales*, *19*, 139-150. https://www.redalyc.org/pdf/3221/322142549009.pdf

- Cruz-Mera, L., & Tusev, A. (2019). The resilience of Venezuelan immigrants in Ecuador. *Boletín de Coyuntura*, 23, 21-26. https://doi.org/10.31164/bcoyu.23.2019.845
- Delgado Wise, R. (2018). Human Mobility: Neoliberal Globalisation and Forced Migration. *The Progressive Post*, 9, 26-27. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Raul_Delgado_Wise/publication/328090534_HUM AN_MOBILITY_NEOLIBERAL_GLOBALISATION_AND_FORCED_MIGRATION_The_Post_Progressive_no_9_ISSN_2506-7362/links/5bb6cc984585159e8d86872c/HUMAN-MOBILITY-NEOLIBERAL-GLOBALISATION-AND-FORCED-MIGRATION-The-Post-Progressive-no-9-ISSN-2506-7362.pdf
- Deranty, J.-P. (2017). The great leveller: Political and figural ambiguities of equality. *Cogent Arts & Humanities*, 4(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311983.2017.1390914
- Díaz de Perales, A. V., & Perales, A. M. (2020a). La diáspora venezolana en el ecuador y su impacto educativo, jurídico, económico y social. *Prohominum*, 2(4), 86-103. https://doi.org/10.47606/ACVEN/PH0020
- Díaz de Perales, A. V., & Perales, A. M. (2020b). La inmigración y desplazamiento hacia Ecuador. Un análisis bajo la perspectiva de los derechos humanos. ¿Somos iguales? *Uniandes EPISTEME*, 7(1), 86-102.
- Diebold, N. F. (2010). Non-discrimination and the Pillars of International Economic Law.

 Comparative analysis and building coherency [Emerging Scholars Papers]. Institute for International Law and Justice. https://iilj.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/Diebold-Non-Discrimination-and-the-Pillars-of-International-Economic-Law-2010.pdf
- DOXA. (2010). *Cuadernos de Filosofía del Derecho*. Departamento de Filosofía del Derecho; Universidad de Alicante.
- Drerup, J. (2019). Global Citizenship Education, Global Educational Injustice and the Postcolonial Critique. *Global Justice: Theory Practice Rhetoric*, 12(1), 27-54.

- Esparragoso Vázquez, R. (2012). Los inmigrantes ecuatorianos en España y su contribución a la economía ecuatoriana mediante el envío de remesas: Nuevas perspectivas ante la crisis económica. *HISTORIA*, 2, 245-269.
- Euronews. (2021, Abril 13). *Ecuador regularizará a los inmigrantes venezolanos*. https://es.euronews.com/2021/04/13/ecuador-regularizara-a-los-inmigrantes-venezolanos
- Fasin, D. (2016). La razón humanitaria. Una historia moral del tiempo presente. Siglo XXI.
- Flores-Díaz, J. C., & Crocker-Sagastume, R. C. (2020). Percepción social de los riesgos laborales en trabajadores migrantes venezolanos en Quito-Ecuador, 2019. *Dominio de las Ciencias*, 6(3), 35-55.
- García Arias, M. F., & Restrepo Pineda, J. E. (2019). Aproximación al proceso migratorio venezolano en el siglo XXI. *Hallazgos*, 16(32), 63-82. https://doi.org/10.15332/2422409X.5000
- Giraldo-Zuluaga, G. A. (2015). Ciudadanía: Aprendizaje de una forma de vida. *Educación y Educadores*, 18(1), 76-92. https://www.redalyc.org/pdf/834/83439194005.pdf
- Goodarzi, M. (2016). Globalization and City Diplomacy: The Formation of Global Citizen (Possibility or Impossibility). *International Journal of Humanities and Cultural Studies*, 3(1), 474-487. https://knowledge.uclga.org/IMG/pdf/1306-3695-1-pb.pdf
- Guia, M. J. (2016). The Stratification of Citizenship in Europe: Citizenship Versus Irregularity. *DEBATER A EUROPA*, 15, 115-132. https://doi.org/10.14195/1647-6336_15_6
- Gutiérrez Felipe, R., & Arango Morales, X. A. (2019). Percepción ciudadana de los derechos humanos: El caso de Monterrey, Nuevo León. *Revista Científica General José María Córdova*, 17(25), 131-145. https://doi.org/10.21830/19006586.138
- Halfmann, J. (1998). Citizenship Universalism, Migration and the Risks of Exclusion. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 49(4), 513-533. https://doi.org/10.2307/591286

- Herbst, M., Kaczmarczyk, P., &Wójcik, P. (2017). Migration of Graduates Within a Sequential Decision Framework: Evidence from Poland. *Central European Economic Journal*, *1*(48), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1515/ceej-2017-0002
- IIDH. (2009). Interpretación de los principios de igualdad y no discriminación para los derechos humanos de las mujeres en los instrumentos del Sistema Interamericano.
 Instituto Interamericano de Derechos Humanos.
 https://www.iidh.ed.cr/IIDH/media/1498/interpretacion-principios-en-si-esp-2009.pdf
- ILO. (2011). Equality at work: The continuing challenge (100th Session 2011, p. 86).

 Conferencia Internacional del Trabajo (ILO).

 https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/--declaration/documents/publication/wcms_166583.pdf
- Itasari, E. R. (2020). Equality and Non Discrimination Principles in Providing Rights with Disabilities. *Jurnal Komunikasi Hukum*, 6(2), 534-541. https://ejournal.undiksha.ac.id/index.php/jkh/article/download/28101/15908
- Kabeer, N. (2014). The politics and practicalities of universalism: Towards a citizen-centred perspective on social protection. *European Journal of Development Research*, 26(3), 338-354. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejdr.2014.10
- Kossoudji, S. A. (2016). What are the consequences of regularizing undocumented immigrants? *IZA World of Labor*, 296, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.296
- Kuhnt, J. (2019). Literature Review: Drivers of Migration. Why Do People Leave Their Homes? Is There an Easy Answer? A Structured Overview of Migratory Determinants (Discussion Paper ISBN 978-3-96021-099-3; p. 42). Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik. https://www.die-gdi.de/uploads/media/DP 9.2019.pdf
- Legarda Sevilla, M. A., & Folleco Chalá, J. M. (2019). La Migración Venezolana a Ecuador y su Prospectiva. *Journal of Research in Business and Management*, 7(1), 14-21. https://www.questjournals.org/jrbm/papers/vol7-issue1/C07011421.pdf

- Leisering, L. (2020). The Calls for Universal Social Protection by International Organizations:

 Constructing a New Global Consensus. *Social Inclusion*, 8(1), 90-102.

 https://doi.org/10.17645/si.v8i1.2569
- Levantezi, M., Shimizu, H. E., & Garrafa, V. (2020). The principle of non-discrimination and non-stigmatization: Reflections on leprosy. *Revista Bioética*, 28(1), 17-23. https://doi.org/10.1590/1983-80422020281362
- López Rivera, A., & Wessel, J. (2017). Migración Haitiana en tránsito por Ecuador. *Comentario Internacional*, 19-32(17).
- Macková, L., & Kysučan, L. (2016). The History and Politics of Human Mobility. *Development, Environment and Foresight*, 2(1), 23-34.
- Malamassam, M. A. (2016). Youth Migration in Indonesia: Decision to Move and to Choose Destination Areas. *Indonesian Journal of Geography*, 48(1), 61-71.
- Marín-Pérez, A., & Méndez-Cabrita, C. M. (2019). Análisis de la dinámica de la movilidad humana de los venezolanos en el paso fronterizo de Rumichaca entre Colombia y Ecuador. *Uniandes EPISTEME*, 6 (Especial), 1129-1144.
- Mendoza, W., & Miranda, J. J. (2019). La inmigración venezolana en el Perú: Desafíos y oportunidades desde la perspectiva de la salud. *Simposio*, *36*(3), 497-503. https://doi.org/10.17843/rpmesp.2019.363.4729
- Ministerio de Gobierno. (2020, Agosto 14). *165.761 ciudadanos venezolanos realizaron el registro migratorio*. https://www.ministeriodegobierno.gob.ec/165-761-ciudadanos-venezolanos-realizaron-el-registro-migratorio/
- Molina, J. W., & Granda, M. I. (2016). Una reflexión sobre la inmigración y la remesa en Ecuador. *Dominio de las Ciencias*, 2(3), 239-251.
- Morales Castillo, G. P. (2018). Normativa legal de la migración en el Ecuador. *Retos de la Ciencia*, 2(2), 155-164. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/229098155.pdf

- Moskal, M., & North, A. (2017). Equity in Education for/with Refugees and Migrants Toward a Solidarity Promoting Interculturalism. *European Education*, 49(2-3), 105-113. https://doi.org/10.1080/10564934.2017.1343088
- MREMH. (2018). Plan Integral para la Atención y Protección de la Población Venezolana en Movilidad Humana en Ecuador 2020 2021 (p. 96) [Plan Institucional]. Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores y Movilidad Humana. https://www.cancilleria.gob.ec/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/ANEXO-1-Plan-Integral-atencio%CC%81n-ciudadanos-venezolanos.pdf
- Myers, J. P. (2016). Charting a democratic course for global citizenship education: Research directions and current challenges. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 24(55), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.24.2174
- Navarro Hoyos, J. A. (2013). De la ciudadanía regional andina a la ciudadanía universal en la Constitución del Ecuador de 2008. *Revista VIA IURIS*, *15*, 179-191. https://www.redalyc.org/pdf/2739/273931062011.pdf
- Nguindip, N. C. (2017). The Right to non-discrimination and the protection of refugee status under Cameroonian law. *International Journal of Law*, 3(5), 83-92. http://www.lawjournals.org/download/205/3-5-18-887.pdf
- OIT Países Andinos. (2020). Sectores económicos con potencial para la inclusión laboral de migrantes y refugiados venezolanos en Quito y Guayaquil (p. 110). Organización Internacional del Trabajo.
- ONU. (2020, Diciembre 10). La ONU lanza el Plan Regional 2021 para proteger a millones de venezolanos en América Latina. *Noticias ONU*. https://news.un.org/es/story/2020/12/1485402
- Organización de las Naciones Unidas. (1948). *Declaración Universal de Derechos Humanos* (p. 9). ONU. https://www.ohchr.org/EN/UDHR/Documents/UDHR_Translations/spn.pdf
- OXFAM. (2019). Sí, pero no aquí. Percepciones de xenofobia y discriminación hacia migrantes de Venezuela en Colombia, Ecuador y Perú (p. 21) [Informe de investigación de

- OXFAM]. Oxfam Internacional. https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620890/bp-si-pero-no-aqui-251019-es.pdf
- Páez B, T., & Phélan C, M. (2018). Emigración venezolana hacia España en tiempos de revolución bolivariana (1998- 2017). Revista Internacional de Estudios Migratorios, 8(2), 319-355.
- Palacios Sanabria, M. T. (2012). La aplicación del principio de igualdad y no discriminación a los trabajadores migratorios. *Civilizar*, *12*(22), 77-92. http://www.scielo.org.co/pdf/ccso/v12n22/v12n22a06.pdf
- Parada Barrera, C. S. (2009). Hacia un nuevo concepto de ciudadanía global. *Via Iuris*, 7, 98-111.
- Peñafiel Chang, L. E. (2020). ¿Migración venezolana un problema para Latinoamérica? Un análisis a través de la historia y sus determinantes. *CUESTIONES ECONÓMICAS*, 30(1), 1-28.
- Perera, M., & Velázquez, C. (2013). Impacto del programa de regularizacion migratoria 'Patria Grande' en Argentina. *Estudios Económicos*, 30(61), 43-69. https://www.redalyc.org/pdf/5723/572363586003.pdf
- Pincay Durán, A. I., Cañarte Químis, L. T., Pincay Durán, Y. G., & Durán Vera, M. O. (2018). El derecho laboral de los inmigrantes extranjeros que están momentáneamente en el Ecuador. *RECIMUNDO: Revista Científica de la Investigación y el Conocimiento*, 2(3), 578-599.
- Pismataro, F., & Gehring, H. (2018). Retos y oportunidades de la movilidad humana venezolana en la construcción de una política migratoria colombiana (Observatorio Venezuela). Universidad del Rosario. https://www.kas.de/documents/287914/287963/Retos+y+oportunidades+de+la+movilida d+humana+venezolana+en+la+construcci%C3%B3n+de+una+pol%C3%ADtica+migrat oria+colombiana.pdf/bcee4a33-9677-4405-bc16-b10dc4565937

- Platonova, A., & Gény, L. R. (2017). Women's empowerment and migration in the Caribbean (S.17-00980; United Nations Publication, p. 43). International Organization for Migration (IOM) & CEPAL. https://repositorio.cepal.org/bitstream/handle/11362/42491/1/S1700980_en.pdf
- R4V. (2021, Marzo 24). *R4V Plataforma de Coordinación para Refugiados y Migrantes de Venezuela*. https://r4v.info/es/situations/platform#
- Ramírez, J. (2016). Hacia el Sur. La Construcción de la Ciudadanía Suramericana y la movilidad intrarregional (1ra ed.). CELAG.
- Ramírez, J. (2020). De la ciudadanía suramericana al humanitarismo: El giro en la política y diplomacia migratoria ecuatoriana. *Estudios Fronterizos*, 21(61). https://doi.org/10.21670/ref.2019061
- Requena, J., & Caputo, C. (2016). Pérdida de talento en Venezuela: Migración de sus investigadores. *Interciencia: Revista de ciencia y tecnología de América*, 41(7), 444-453. https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/articulo?codigo=5601420
- Ruiz Méndez, J. (2018). Venezuela a la distancia: Diseño de una herramienta digital que permita compilar los testimonios de la diáspora venezolana conformada entre 1999 y la actualidad para la construcción de memoria colectiva sobre este fenómeno [Tesis de Maestría, Universidad de La Sabana]. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctvfc52gm.5
- Salazar, N. B. (2019). Mobility. *REMHU*, *Rev. Interdiscip. Mobil. Hum.*, 27(57), 13-24. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-85852503880005702
- Salazar-Calderón, C. (2015). *Cambio y orden social en Venezuela, durante el «chavismo»* [Tesis Doctoral, Universidad Complutense de Madrid]. https://eprints.ucm.es/id/eprint/38044/1/T37326.pdf
- Schewel, K. (2019). Understanding Immobility: Moving Beyond the Mobility Bias in Migration Studies. *Migrant Mobility, Aspirations, and Life Chances*, *54*(2), 328-355. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0197918319831952

- Seco Martinez, J. M. (2017). De la igualdad formal a la igualdad material. *Derechos y Libertades. Universidad de Sevilla*, *36*, 55-89. https://doi.org/10.14679/1037
- Serrano Cayamcela, T. (2018). La constitución ecuatoriana y sus contradicciones con la política migratoria respecto a los ciudadanos cubanos. *Novedades en Población CEDEM*, 28, 145-159. http://scielo.sld.cu/pdf/rnp/v14n28/1817-4078-rnp-14-28-145.pdf
- Sheller, M. (2018). Theorising mobility justice. *Tempo Social, Revista de Sociologia Da USP*, 30(2), 17-34. https://doi.org/10.11606/0103-2070.ts.2018.142763
- Sikkink, K. (2017). Evidence for Hope: Making Human Rights Work in the 21st Century (FirstEdition). Princeton University Press.
- Sikkink, K., Risse, T., & Ropp, S. C. (Eds.). (1999). *The Power of Human Rights: International Norms and Domestic Change* (First Edition). Cambridge University Press.
- Sosa Salazar, E. G., Campoverde Nivicela, L. J., & Sánchez Cuenca, M. E. (2019). Los principios de titularidad, exigibilidad e igualdad y no discriminación como principios de aplicación de los derechos en el estado ecuatoriano. *Universidad y Sociedad*, 11(5), 428-436. http://scielo.sld.cu/pdf/rus/v11n5/2218-3620-rus-11-05-428.pdf
- Stefoni, C. (2018). *Panorama de la migración internacional en América del Sur* (Documento de Trabajo N.º 123; Serie Población y Desarrollo, p. 54). CEPAL. https://www.cepal.org/sites/default/files/publication/files/43584/S1800356_es.pdf
- Suárez Molina, V., Castillo Aguirre, D., & Mera Zambrano, P. (2020). *ANÁLISIS: Situación de Derechos Humanos de migrantes de Venezuela en el Ecuador* (p. 98). CARE Ecuador, Diálogo Diverso (DD) y Fundación Alas de Colibrí (ACF). https://www.care.org.ec/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Analisis-Situacion-de-DDHH-migrantes-Venezuela-en-el-Ecuador-Ago2020-1.pdf
- Torres Urbano, M. S. (2016). *De Chávez a Maduro: Transformaciones de la Política Doméstica y Exterior* [Tesis, Universidad Militar Nueva Granada]. https://repository.unimilitar.edu.co/bitstream/handle/10654/15360/TorresUrbanoMarySte fania2016.pdf?sequence=2

- Unión Interparlamentaria. (2015). *Migración, derechos humanos y gobernanza*. Organización de las Naciones Unidas (ONU). https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/MigrationHR_and_Governance_HR_PU B_15_3_SP.pdf
- United Nations. (2018). Expert Meeting on Protecting the human rights of migrants in the context of return (p. 14) [Iffice of High Commissioner]. United Nations, Human Rights. https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Migration/Return/BackgroundPaper.pdf
- Uribe Arzate, E., & Olvera García, J. (2019). México: El nuevo destino para los migrantes de Centroamérica, o la quiebra del sueño americano. *Utopía y Praxis Latinoamericana*, 24(3), 133-148.
- Vera Viteri, L. V., Zambrano Acosta, J. M., & Deroy Domínguez, D. (2019). Ciudadanía Universal y Libre Movilidad Humana: Una mirada desde el perfil temático de la producción científica internacional. *Estudios del Desarrollo Social*, 7(2), 94-104. http://scielo.sld.cu/pdf/reds/v7n2/2308-0132-reds-7-02-e2.pdf
- Villavicencio Miranda, L. (2018). Justicia social y el principio de igualdad. *HYBRIS*, 9(Especial), 43-74.
- Villegas Arenas, G., & Toro Gaviria, J. A. (2010). La igualdad y la equidad: Dos conceptos clave en la agenda de trabajo de los profesionales de la familia. *Revista latinoamericana de estudios de familia*, 2, 98-116. http://vip.ucaldas.edu.co/revlatinofamilia/downloads/Rlef2_5.pdf

ANNEXES

Annex 1. Interviews

• Interview 1: Luis Perdomo

Q. When did you arrive in Ecuador?

I arrived in Ecuador in 2016.

Q. How was the experience of looking for a job and the treatment you received?

At first it was difficult to get a job, since employers required me to have a visa, although the law did not prevent me from registering with the IESS. However, I was able to get some jobs in which I was paid less because, in view of their need to work, some employers took advantage of paying less for the same or greater amount of work, who in turn, did not register or pay social security.

Q. What expectations do you have in Ecuador?

I hope to be able to stay on a regular basis and develop professionally in Ecuador.

• Interview 2: Susana Rodríguez.

Q. When did you arrive in Ecuador?

I migrated from Venezuela to Ecuador in 2017, at which during that time some changes were made in the immigration legal regulations, which affected me.

Q. How was the experience with the documentation?

I had arrived with my documents in order to apply for the hearing immediately, however, the officials demanded that I present documentation proving that I had legal means of life. This

consisted of presenting the notice of entry, registration with social security or private insurance, as proof that I was earning some kind of income for subsistence in the country; but this was a bit contradictory, as some employers require a visa to hire.

• Interview 3: María González.

Q. When did you arrive in Ecuador?

My arrival was in December 2018; I was living in the city of Quito, and then in Guayaquil, until 2020 when I moved to the city of Cuenca with some relatives.

Q. What was the job search experience like?

At first it was difficult to get a job; however, due to my experience as a salesperson, I was able to manage to keep my job for the last year. During the period of the pandemic my passport expired, which has made it difficult to update the visa; when I updated my passport before the Venezuelan authorities, the response was late, so the extension came untimely.

Subsequently, upon requesting the renewal of the visa, I was subject to an inadmissibility report in the city of Azogues, since the time for the application had expired, which left me in a vulnerable situation, since I have to request before the migration office the issuance of a fine, which is equivalent to 2 basic salaries, that is, a payment of USD 800, plus the payment of the hearing, and its application for a total of \$450. Considering the economic crisis that Ecuador is going through due to the pandemic, it is extremely difficult to collect the amount requested for the fine, which does not facilitate the regularization of some migrants.

Q. What can you highlight about your motivations to migrate and what are your expectations?

Among the fundamental aspects of migration from Venezuela to Ecuador, I can mention the economic situation in which almost all the purchasing power of families has been lost, the impossibility of acquiring housing, food or transportation. Also, the crime situation has greatly influenced the decision to migrate, given that there are many weapons in circulation and a low level of police protection, greatly affecting citizen security. In Ecuador this is less common, so there is a greater sense of tranquility and one can be on the street in peace, but without lowering your guard.

• Interview 4: José Luis Espinoza.

Q. When did you arrive in Ecuador?

My arrival in Ecuador took place in 2017, after having suffered political and police persecution due to participation in the civic protests at the beginning of 2017, so the main motivation to migrate to Ecuador was the lack of social and citizen guarantees, in view of a little or no democratic state.

Q. How was the experience when looking for a job and the treatment you received?

In Ecuador, I have been fortunate to work in two companies in which I have received good treatment, and have been recognized in the same way as other workers of Ecuadorian nationality. However, on some occasions during my transit in the streets I have been subject to police checks due to my physical appearance, recognizable as a foreigner, thus feeling a certain level of discrimination.

• Interview 5: Orianna H.

Q. When did you arrive in Ecuador?

I arrived around mid-2016.

Q. How was the experience looking for a job and with the documentation?

I managed to have all my documents in order, and completed the application for the temporary visa in the normal way, quickly acquiring legality. However, I have been the victim of unequal treatment in one of the jobs, when I was required to work during weekends with lower pay than the corresponding overtime work, being practically forced to accept these conditions, while my Ecuadorian colleagues were not required to work on Saturdays or Sundays.

Q. What were your motivations for migrating and what are your expectations?

My main motivation for migrating to Ecuador was the lack of conditions to develop professionally, the difficulty to access food, a precarious health system, and the lack of future that is seen in the country. What, on the contrary, I perceive as possible in Ecuadorian lands.

• Interview 6: Carlos Daniel A.

Q. When did you arrive in Ecuador?

I arrived in Ecuador in January 2018, after living for a year in Colombia.

O. How was your process in the regularization of your immigration status?

I arrived in the city of Cuenca, since I had the support of some friends who had lived in the country for a couple of years, which was fundamental to finding a place to sleep and looking for a job. However, the recent requirements to apply for the temporary visa constituted a great challenge, since I had to present legal means of livelihood to access legality, which was impossible because I could not present such proof, since I could not get a job and dedicated

myself to engage in informal activities, such as selling prepared foods, candy, and plastic bags. This had a negative impact on the regularization of the immigration status; however, I agreed to the pay for a private insurance, which allowed me to present it as a legal means of livelihood, even though such insurance did not provide me with real medical security.

Q. How was the experience looking for a job?

During the search for employment, I was the victim of contempt due to my nationality, even finding posters where employees were requested, but in which it was expressly stated that Venezuelans were not accepted. Despite this, it has been possible to find work, although employers fail to register with social security; with this I have been able to rent a house and maintain an acceptable level of income to live on.

Q. What are your prospects?

As a fundamental perspective, I have the possibility of carrying out different formal and informal economic activities, from which I can glimpse a better standard of living, quality of food and the provision of health services, which I consider accessible in Ecuador, since in Venezuela the cost of living is high with incomes that does not exceed USD 5.00 per month.